BEYOND BULLET WOUNDS

GUNS IN THE HANDS OF DOMESTIC ABUSERS



In this report, you can expect to read information and stories, sometimes graphic, concerning domestic violence — including sexual abuse — and gun violence, plus their effects on different communities. The report focuses on the intersection of gun violence with both domestic and intimate partner violence (DV and IPV, respectively). When referring to studies or other sources, we use the term used in the cited source. Otherwise, we use "domestic violence" as an umbrella term to cover all forms of intimate partner and family violence.

Do you or someone you know need help or a safe place? There are confidential, easily accessible resources available. Contact the National Domestic Violence Hotline at 1-800-799-SAFE or go to thehotline.org to chat without having to say a word. The National Sexual Assault Hotline at 1-800-656-HOPE is available to victims and survivors and can refer you to a local crisis center.

ABOUT BRADY

Founded in 1974, Brady works across Congress, courts, and communities, uniting gun owners and non-gun owners alike, to take action, not sides, and end America's gun violence epidemic. Our organization today carries the name of Jim Brady, who was shot and severely injured in the assassination attempt on President Ronald Reagan. Jim and his wife Sarah led the fight to pass federal legislation requiring background checks for gun sales. Brady continues to uphold Jim and Sarah's legacy by uniting Americans from coast to coast — red and blue, young and old, liberal and conservative — against the epidemic of gun violence.

CONTENTS

roduction	
Domestic Violence and Firearms in the U.S.	
Covid-19 Pandemic and Domestic Violence	
The Disproportionate Impacts of Domestic Violence on Vulnerable and Marginalized Communities $$.	
Gender, Domestic Violence, and Firearms	
Race and Ethnicity, Domestic Violence, and Firearms	1
Black Americans	1
Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders	1
Hispanic/Latino(a)/Latinx/Latiné Americans	1
Indigenous Communities, Domestic Violence, and Firearms	1
Immigrant Communities, Domestic Violence, and Firearms	1
LGBTQ+ Communities, Domestic Violence, and Firearms	1
Children, Domestic Violence, and Firearms	1
People with Disabilities, Domestic Violence, and Firearms	1
.aws and Policies	2
Boyfriend Loophole	2
Stalking Loophole	2
Temporary Restraining Orders	2
Removal Process	2
Charleston Loophole	2
Steps Taken by States in Response	2
Private Sales	2
NICS Reporting Inadequacies	2
Domestic Violence Laws and Human Rights	2
Federal Remedies	2
Closing the Boyfriend Loophole	2
Temporary Restraining Orders	2
Expanding the DVRO Prohibitor to Include Temporary and Ex Parte Orders	
Adopting and Properly Implementing Firearms Removal Laws	2
Closing the Charleston Loophole	
Implementing Universal Background Checks	2
Ensure Comprehensive, Timely Reporting of Domestic Violence Prohibitors to NICS	2
Reauthorizing the Violence Against Women Act	
Ratifying the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women	
nclusion	2

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In the United States, the lethal relationship between domestic violence and firearms is startling. Firearms are the weapons of choice for domestic violence homicides; female intimate partners are more likely to be murdered with a gun than by all other means **combined**. Since 2010, the rate of intimate partner homicides involving guns has been **increasing** after declining for decades. At the same time, incidents involving other weapons are falling. The presence of firearms can also turn interpersonal crimes, like stalking, deadly. The mere presence of a gun in an abusive relationship both intensifies the dynamics of control and coercion and escalates violence directed toward the victim.

While anyone can experience or perpetrate domestic violence, structural, societal, and community factors often lead to disparities among those who experience domestic violence most frequently and to what extent. A person's racial or ethnic identity, immigration or socioeconomic status, sexual orientation, gender, and disability — among other factors — impact their likelihood of experiencing this form of violence. Risks associated with domestic violence are also increased during periods of national crisis, such as the COVID-19 pandemic.

Federal laws provide some protection against gun-related domestic violence, but not enough. Some states have stepped in to fill those gaps, but shortcomings remain — <u>raising international human rights concerns.</u>³ Through stories, studies, and statistics, this report will shed light on the unique lethality of guns in domestic violence incidents; the existing laws and their many loopholes; policies and laws intended to reduce incidents of domestic violence and save lives; disparities among communities experiencing domestic violence; the effects of COVID-19 on this violence; and the international human rights implications.

This report includes narratives of domestic violence experiences, but there are also countless stories behind each statistic cited. Behind every number in this report, there is incomprehensible trauma, there is a person whose life or safety could have been — or still can be — protected, and there are lessons to be learned.

INTRODUCTION

In the United States, where one-third of women and one-quarter of men⁴ are victims of physical violence at the hands of an intimate partner in their lifetime, the issue of domestic violence cuts across racial, gender, economic, sexual, generational, and religious divides. The number of individuals who experience this type of violence, and are killed in its course, is horrific. Every 16 hours in America, a woman is killed with a firearm by an intimate male partner, and more than 20 people in the U.S. are abused by their intimate partner each minute. Ten million people experience domestic and intimate partner abuse every year. Millions of domestic violence survivors confront extensive physiological and psychological harms.⁷ Post traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), anxiety, lingering physical injuries and conditions, housing instability, and job insecurity8 can all affect survivors both during and after their abuse, making it harder to leave an abusive situation and to stay independent once

free. Domestic violence can also victimize those who aren't the direct target; child victims and witnesses experience unique and lifelong effects, which often lead to instability and impact <u>emotional</u> <u>development.</u>⁹

There is an intricate and tragic interplay between gun violence and domestic violence. Firearms play an integral role in the strategies of harm and control employed by many abusive persons and are a significant risk factor in the violent escalation from domestic violence to intimate partner homicide (IPH). Victims of domestic violence cross racial, ethnic, gender, and sexual identity lines, and the lives of all are significantly more endangered when a gun is involved. Combating domestic violence requires a holistic approach including accessible services, education, and legislation — all of which are vital to protect survivors and decrease the number of new victims.

ONE-THIRD OF WOMEN AND ONE-QUARTER OF MEN ARE VICTIMS OF PHYSICAL VIOLENCE AT THE HANDS OF AN INTIMATE PARTNER

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND FIREARMS IN THE U.S.

The mere presence of a gun is a key factor in turning abusive partners into killers.

- A perpetrator's direct access to guns during a domestic violence incident increases the likelihood of a female victim's homicide compared to other acts of violence by <u>11</u> times.¹⁰
- More than a quarter¹¹ of all homicides in the U.S. are related to domestic violence, and a firearm is involved in over <u>one half</u>¹² of these murders.
- Female victims of intimate partner homicides are more likely to have been shot¹³ than to have died by any other means.
- Between 1980 and 2008, two-thirds of victims murdered by a spouse or ex-spouse were killed by guns. 14 For women, that number was even higher; about 70% of women murdered 15 by their spouse or ex-spouse during that time were killed by guns.
- In 2016, <u>1 out of every 3 women murdered</u>¹⁶
 was killed by an intimate partner with a gun.
- While guns are easily purchased in many parts
 of the United States, quick and easy access to
 firearms in the home make domestic violence
 more deadly: Women who were killed by a
 spouse, intimate partner, or a close relative were
 seven times more likely to have lived in homes

with guns. 17

- The Danger Assessment, a tool used to predict the likelihood of IPH, found that women who were threatened or assaulted with a gun or other weapon were <u>20 times more likely</u>¹⁸ to be murdered than other women.
- Women whose partners threatened them with murder were <u>15 times more likely</u> than other women to be killed.
- Fatalities are not the only tragedies wrought by guns in these situations: <u>13.6% of American</u> women alive today¹⁹ around 25 million have been threatened by a domestic abuser with a firearm.

Despite the increased risk of escalation in homes with guns, there are no federal firearm prohibitions for dating partners convicted of misdemeanor crimes of violence or misdemeanor stalking crimes, nor those subject to temporary restraining or protective orders. Even amongst prohibited purchasers, inadequacies in the available records allowed domestic abusers to pass background checks and obtain guns over 6,700 times between 2006 and 2015.²⁰

Firearm deaths related to domestic violence are not limited only to individual partner homicides. Shockingly, 60% of mass shooting events²¹—defined as an incident where at least four people excluding the shooter are shot—between 2014 and 2019 were either domestic violence attacks or perpetrated by those with a history of domestic violence. Mass shootings, which may appear unrelated to domestic violence on the surface, are often committed by those with a record of domestic violence.²² The shooting at the Pulse

<u>nightclub</u>²³ in Orlando that left 49 people dead was perpetrated by a man who beat and strangled his ex-wife throughout their marriage. The Sutherland Springs church shooter, who murdered 26 people with his gun, had been <u>charged with assaulting</u> his wife and fracturing his toddler stepson's skull.

Most mass shootings tied to domestic violence are acts of familicide: a parent, spouse, child, or sibling killing the rest of their family. In <u>October of 2019</u>, ²⁴ a mother, her two daughters, and her son were shot dead in their Massachusetts home Deirdre was 40 years old when her husband murdered their family, including 11-year-old Alexis and 9-year-old twins Kathryn and Nathaniel, before turning the gun on himself. Police reported no history of domestic abuse before the tragic shooting, though local reports noted that Deirdre's status as the family's sole breadwinner, coupled with her <u>husband's</u> <u>struggle with unemployment</u>, ²⁵ may have been a stressor that lead to the murder-suicide.

Deirdre's story is not an anomaly. Between 2000 and 2007, the FBI's supplementary homicide data indicated **961 multiple homicides involving family**²⁶ members. Research suggests that **virtually all**²⁷ familicides are carried out with firearms.

The intersection of gun violence with domestic violence is not limited to homicides and physical injuries. A gun does not have to be fired to <u>play</u>

a traumatic role²⁸ in a domestic abuse situation. The mere presence of a firearm²⁹ can threaten, intimidate, psychologically abuse, and force compliance on a partner. In the heat of an argument, a partner or family member methodically and openly cleaning their gun can deter resistance³⁰ just as effectively as firing a shot.

COVID-19 PANDEMIC AND DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

Preliminary evidence suggests that domestic violence <u>surges</u>³¹ in times of national crisis, and the COVID-19 pandemic is no exception. The amalgamation of the pandemic, gun violence, and domestic violence illuminate how three distinct public health crises can amplify the dangers posed by each — and how their disparate impacts can compound on vulnerable communities.

The U.S. witnessed a major surge in gun sales during the pandemic. The week following the announcement that most of the U.S. would be entering lockdown, the FBI processed a <u>record number</u>³² of background checks for gun sales. From March to July of 2020, the FBI completed a staggering <u>17.3 million background checks</u>³³ — 5.5 million more than the same period in 2019. In fact,

THE MERE PRESENCE OF A FIREARM CAN THREATEN, INTIMIDATE, PSYCHOLOGICALLY ABUSE, AND FORCE COMPLIANCE ON A PARTNER.

the FBI surpassed the previous <u>annual record</u>³⁴ for background checks in September 2020, with three whole months left in the year.

In a lethal overlap, the pandemic has exacerbated conditions that lead to and perpetuate domestic violence, including isolation due to lockdowns and periods of quarantine.. The pandemic also increased the number of people facing domestic violence-associated <u>risk factors</u>³⁵ such as economic uncertainty and instability. It also increased mental distress and diminished social connections — both of which can <u>impact</u>³⁶ the frequency and severity of domestic violence.

Further, the pandemic has reduced safeguards for victims of domestic violence. Economic independence, which has been <u>diminished</u>³⁷ by job loss and unemployment during the pandemic, is critical to a person's ability to remove themself from an unsafe environment. Public health restrictions intended to reduce viral spread have also <u>reduced</u>³⁸ access to alternative housing, including shelters, leaving many wanting to escape abuse with nowhere to go.

The impact of the pandemic has been felt most acutely by communities already more vulnerable to domestic violence and IPV. Economic instability

17.3M

From March to July 2020, the FBI completed 17.3 million background checks for gun sales.

and the loss of economic independence have disproportionately affected³⁹ communities of color, immigrants, and those without a college education. Social isolation and economic hardship may have also contributed⁴⁰ to domestic violence experienced by individuals of the LGBTQ+ community, who are more likely⁴¹ to be employed in industries highly-affected by the pandemic and thus exposed to these stressors. There is also an increased risk⁴² of children experiencing or being exposed to abuse in the home, with virtual learning preventing in-person safeguards.

Annual trends suggest that the pandemic's increase in risk factors has indeed worsened domestic violence and IPV. Forty-eight states experienced increased calls to police or domestic violence hotlines, with some areas experiencing up to an 80% increase⁴³ in calls compared to the previous year. There were also **higher rates**⁴⁴ of high-risk abuse, including the use of weapons, strangulation, stab wounds, and burns. This is especially worrisome, as these numbers are still likely underreported — experts **believe**⁴⁵ that the isolation imposed by quarantine periods, and quarantine with an abuser, may have contributed to victims being unable to, or deterred from, connecting to services. Additionally, rates of child abuse <u>increased</u>⁴⁶ even while teachers, counselors, and other mandatory reporters were less likely to see children in order to recognize and report signs of abuse.

Unsurprisingly, the National Domestic Violence Hotline **connected**⁴⁷ the pandemic and the concurrent surge in gun sales with a rate of 6% of callers between March 10th and March 25th being threatened with or harmed by a gun. The pandemic also caused court delays and case reprioritization, driving **concerns**⁴⁸ that domestic abusers could

maintain control of their firearms because courts were unavailable to issue or renew protective orders. The lack of efficient due process for domestic violence victims has led to compounding tragedies, as more than 2,000 people were <u>killed</u>⁴⁹ by domestic violence-related shootings in 2020 — a 4% <u>increase</u>⁵⁰ nationwide over 2019, with some states seeing relatively normal rates and others seeing significant spikes.

THE DISPROPORTIONATE IMPACTS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE ON VULNERABLE AND MARGINALIZED COMMUNITIES

While domestic violence can affect anyone, it is not experienced equally in America; certain communities are particularly vulnerable to the root causes and stress factors of such violence.

GENDER, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, AND FIREARMS

Individuals of all genders experience domestic violence. While society often paints domestic violence as occurring between a cisgender man and a cisgender woman engaged in a heterosexual relationship, this is a vast oversimplification that erases the experiences of hundreds of thousands of victims and survivors. While this section focuses on the proportional effects of domestic violence

within male-female heterosexual relationships, a latter section is dedicated to the experiences of the LGBTQ+ community.

Women are not the only victims of domestic violence, but they do experience domestic violence at disproportionately high rates. **One in three**women⁵¹ will experience sexual violence, physical violence, and/or stalking by an intimate partner during their lifetime. In the past 10 years, over

3,000 women⁵² have been shot and killed by a spouse or intimate partner during an argument.

From 1980 to 2008, female murder victims were almost six times more likely⁵³ than male murder victims to have been killed by an intimate partner.

The prevalence of firearms in America makes domestic violence more deadly for women. One analysis found that women who were threatened or assaulted with a gun or weapon were 20 times more likely⁵⁴ to be murdered. The gun lobby opposes⁵⁵ many common-sense policies that would make victims and survivors safer, instead peddling a **fallacy**⁵⁶ that female victims would be safer if they bought guns to use for self-defense. This narrative is not only false, but deadly: When there is a gun in a home with a history of domestic violence, there is a **500% higher chance**⁵⁷ that a woman in that home will be murdered, and when comparing male interpersonal violence offenders to male interpersonal homicide offenders, direct access to a gun increases the likelihood of homicide by over 1,000%⁵⁸. Over the past decade, two-thirds of victims⁵⁹ murdered by a spouse or ex-spouse were killed by guns.

Firearms are used to execute more than physical acts of abuse in domestic violence scenarios.

They also play a major role in establishing **coercive**

<u>control</u>⁶⁰ — a pattern of threats, violence, and humiliation used to undermine the autonomy of a partner or <u>family member</u>. Using a gun as a coercive tool is <u>almost exclusively</u> and intimate partner behavior. A <u>2017 study</u> found that women who had been threatened with a gun — or who feared that their partner would use one against them — suffered more severe psychological symptoms than women who had endured other types of abuse.

Despite coercive control's clear harm and proven link to violence, authorities do not usually recognize it — even with a weapon as actionable under law. Courts very rarely issue⁶⁴ Domestic Violence Restraining Orders (DVROs) on the basis of non-physical threats, leaving women in precarious positions, as violence frequently escalates over days, weeks, or months. Moreover, women facing domestic violence are often wary of calling the police, 65 fearing retaliation from partners or inaction from officers, which leaves firearms unchecked in the hands of abusive people. Among women who did call the police, one-third66 said they felt less safe after the subsequent intervention. Nearly half of respondents in a 2016 report 67 felt police discriminated against them for a variety of reasons, including fearing a male officer siding with their male attacker. Over half 68 of respondents felt that not being the "perfect victim" (gender identity, criminal record, income level) would bias police against them. Additionally, there is evidence 69 indicating that domestic violence perpetration is more prevalent among law enforcement than in the general population, which could make a survivor vulnerable to the police⁷⁰ as well. These deterrents are especially acute for women of color who are often unfairly treated by law enforcement

and the justice system as a whole even outside the context of domestic violence responses; for some,

A SAFE PLACE

One common factor in the underreporting of gun-related domestic violence is a lack of trust in law enforcement, particularly for communities that have been mistreated by governmental institutions. This fear can be compounded by a lack of transparency about the steps that these institutions may take in response to such reports. However, disclosing gun-related domestic violence (DV) is critical to ensuring that the firearm is removed, which significantly decreases the chance of a lethal incident.

Luckily, on-the-ground DV organizations like Oakland's A Safe Place (ASP) are doing invaluable work keeping clients and their children safe from gun-related DV trough building trust with the aforementioned institutions and instilling knowledge in their clients. ASP uses a screening tool when clients first call for services that asks, among other questions, if a weapon has been used in an act of domestic violence and, if so, what type of weapon. However, ASP has observed that many clients do not immediately disclose gun usage, instead often confiding this information only after arriving at the shelter and receiving counseling. As ASP explains, this is due in part to fear about what such a disclosure may cause, including responses from law enforcement and courts — institutions that have historically mishandled DV responses,

especially in communities of color. Vivian, ASP's Program Manager, explains that clients want to keep themselves and their children safe — but due to institutional mistreatment, they aren't sure disclosure is the best way to do that.

In response, ASP got to work building back trust on behalf of these institutions to help their clients feel more comfortable disclosing gun-related DV. Vivian noted that many police training academies, for example, devote only 1.5 hours to DV issues — nowhere near enough time to gain a thorough understanding of this violence (for comparison, a **2016 study**⁷¹ found that, on average, 664 local police academies spend 38 hours of training on operating an emergency vehicle). ASP has helped to fill in this gap by training the Oakland Police Department (OPD) on the nuances of DV and best practices when responding to DV incidents. ASP even had a staffer reside at OPD's DV unit to offer guidance and continuing education as officers encountered IPV situations.

ASP's assistance has given OPD the tools to respond to reports of DV in an informed manner. It also allows ASP to provide total transparency to their callers and clients about what law enforcement responses look like. ASP hosts required 40-hour DV training sessions for its 24/7 hotline advocates. OPD joins these sessions to present how it handles calls reporting DV and various DV situations, including those where a gun is present. Consequently, ASP's advocates can give callers and clients a step-by-step guide through their options, including what will

happen if they decide to involve the police.

ASP also helps clients navigate the complicated court system. Alameda County, which includes Oakland, established a court in 2018 whose sole purpose is to address DV cases. Outside of the pandemic, ASP has staffers in that courthouse every day who explain and assist in the DVRO process, provide emotional support when needed through on-site counseling services, and guide clients that have faced gun-related DV through what will happen if they disclose the involvement of a firearm to the court. Vivian says that ASP is able to reassure clients. telling them not to be afraid to bring the presence of a gun up to the judge because the judge will be able to address it, keeping them safer.

The work that ASP has taken on to guide both clients and institutions protects their clients against gun-related DV. It not only ensures that institutions will respond to DV in a sensitive and informed manner, but empowers clients to make informed choices with the knowledge that they can rely on ASP every step of the way. This knowledge increases the likelihood that clients will feel comfortable disclosing and reporting gun-related DV, which in turn enhances the services ASP provides and increases the effectiveness of institutional responses. In sum, all parties benefit from ASP's work — but, most importantly, clients feel safer and more confident. As Vivian expressed: "When your clients leave with their shoulders squared with confidence, it makes it all worthwhile."

RACE AND ETHNICITY, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, AND FIREARMS

The horrors of domestic violence are experienced differently along racial and ethnic lines. People of color experience domestic violence at higher rates than their white counterparts, and experiences vary among different racial and ethnic groups as well. Despite the disparity in research and reporting on survivors of color, the differences are undeniable.

Black Americans

Black women disproportionately experience domestic violence and have an increased likelihood of dying due to it. Femicide — the homicide of women — is the leading cause of death in the U.S. among Black women aged 14 to 45 years, and 57% of femicides against Black women are committed with guns. Black women are twice as likely to be killed by a spouse, and four times more likely to be killed by a dating partner, than white women.

From slavery to Jim Crow to modern-day institutions, the U.S. has perpetuated racism, discrimination, and prejudice against Black Americans. This systematic mistreatment of Black people – and Black men in particular – has fed a cycle of domestic violence by normalizing violence. Economic and labor discrimination have led to disproportionate levels of unemployment and poverty in the Black community, and it is wellnoted that stresses associated with finances and unemployment are contributing factors to domestic violence. A subscription to the idea of hegemonic masculinity — where men must fulfill the roles of breadwinner and head of household — amongst Black Americans exacerbates the effect that economic powerlessness can have on domestic

PAULETTA

Pauletta, like so many other survivors of intimate partner violence, wasn't certain that she was experiencing domestic abuse until she was in the hospital healing from five gunshot wounds — four of them to the head — inflicted by her husband in the hours before he died by suicide. The shooting was not an isolated incident, but rather the culmination of a pattern of physical, verbal, and financial abuse that Pauletta had endured throughout her marriage.

"I went through about every level of abuse imaginable. Up until that point, I didn't know I was in a domestic violence relationship; it wasn't what I was told and taught in my community."

For much of Pauletta's young life, community elders, church leaders, and neighbors had set a dangerous precedent of ignoring abuse that happened outside the public eye. She witnessed domestic violence in her communities while growing up, but the pain was never met with police responses; instead, it was seen and treated as a deeply personal matter, not a crime that warranted the involvement of the authorities. She was told that, when a partner got physical, the best thing to do was pick something up and hit them back. However, when she found herself facing off against her husband for the first time in their relationship, that advice failed her.

"It didn't work. I wouldn't recommend

it. You can be at any level of anger and strike back at someone, but if the police are called you can go to jail — even though you're just protecting yourself."

The police only got involved in Pauletta's case after her husband tried to kill her. Though she had been shot in the head four times and in the arm once, she forced herself to stay on her feet and get out of the house. She managed to make it to a neighbor's house, pounding on several doors until someone was able to call for help. During her recovery, Pauletta spoke to advocates who helped her understand the level of violence she had faced. It was the first time she recognized that her experiences were not normal or healthy, that the abuse she had lived with was not okay. These conversations inspired her to become an advocate herself.

"I refuse to allow a victim to get killed, you know? I refuse."

The resolve Pauletta felt to keep others from enduring what she endured helped to give her the strength to deal with the unexpected aftermath of the shooting. Everyone seemed to know what had happened to her, and many treated her like she was already dead even as she returned home. The confrontation between her husband and the police that occurred after she had escaped had all but destroyed her house. The organizations that were supposed to provide assistance refused to help her fix her blown-out windows; she remembers one telling her that their giving

aid would be more likely if she had died and her family had been planning her funeral.

"I was supposed to roll over and die while he was shooting me. I would not."

Understandably, such unfair treatment may cause some to give up, but it shaped Pauletta into the relentless advocate she is today. While she originally focused her advocacy on general domestic violence, Pauletta has expanded into gun violence prevention as well. Part of this motivation was the way her husband acquired the weapon he used to attack her and kill himself. After her father, a firearms collector who passed away years prior to the attack, suffered a stroke that rendered him unable to shoot his guns, he asked his son-in-law to take the guns and turn them into the authorities. Unbeknownst to Pauletta or her father, however, her husband kept the weapons. It wasn't until the police tried to return to her the gun used in the shooting that Pauletta realized what had happened.

"This has to stop. Whether you get a gun legally or illegally, there is too much gun violence."

More than a decade has passed since she was shot in January of 2010, but Pauletta's dedication to helping victims and survivors has only grown. She is committed to providing help to those in desperate and dangerous situations and to reducing the number of domestic violence-related shootings. In addition to her day

job, Pauletta serves on the board of a domestic violence assistance organization, often paying out of her own pocket to keep safe individuals presently living her past experiences. In speaking with law enforcement officers on sensitivity to domestic violence, she believes there is still a long way to go to end the normalization of this type of violence, highlighting churches and law enforcement as two institutions particularly behind the times with regards to their understanding of DV. She also emphasizes the need for more counselors with specialized training to work with victims and survivors. Until then, and after, she will continue sharing her story to help spread awareness about domestic violence and gun violence — and to educate people on its consequences.

"No matter what phone call comes and who knocks on the door, I'm going to find a way to help."

Black women <u>disproportionately</u>⁷² experience domestic violence and have an increased likelihood of dying due to it. Femicide — the homicide of women — is the <u>leading cause</u>⁷³ of death in the U.S. among Black women aged 14 to 45 years, and <u>57%</u> <u>of femicides</u>⁷⁴ against Black women are committed with guns. Black women are <u>twice</u>⁷⁵ as likely to be killed by a spouse, and four times more likely to be killed by a dating partner, than white women.

From slavery to Jim Crow to modern-day institutions, the U.S. has perpetuated racism, discrimination, and prejudice against Black Americans. This systematic mistreatment of Black

people — and <u>Black men in particular</u>⁷⁶ — has fed a cycle of domestic violence by normalizing violence. Economic and labor discrimination have led to disproportionate levels of unemployment and poverty in the Black community, and it is <u>well-noted</u>⁷⁷ that stresses associated with finances and unemployment are contributing factors to domestic violence. A subscription to the idea of <u>hegemonic masculinity</u>⁷⁸ — where men must fulfill the roles of breadwinner and head of household — amongst Black Americans exacerbates the effect that economic powerlessness can have on domestic violence.

Interviews with Black men with a history of domestic abuse also reveal the effect of trauma on patterns of abusive behavior. When prompted to <u>discuss</u>⁷⁹ life experiences that may have contributed to abusing someone else, many Black men cite PTSD, depression, and adverse childhood experiences. Increasing the quality of resources for communities, young Black men, and mental health care could contribute to reducing the risk of domestic violence in these communities.

Further, institutional discrimination creates barriers to reporting domestic violence and receiving aid.

Black adults <u>report</u>⁸⁰ frequent discrimination — both interpersonally and across social institutions, including healthcare and the justice system — that <u>negatively affects their health and safety.</u> ⁸¹ These significant barriers likely perpetuate high rates of domestic violence experienced by Black Americans, as they contribute to a lack of comfort with and trust in resources that could help them escape harmful environments and situations.

Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders

Asian American and Pacific Islander (AAPI) women experience significant rates of domestic violence-related death: Between 2004 and 2014, 57.8% of Asian femicide victims over the age of 18 were killed in IPV-related homicides. Only among Latin/ Hispanic women was the rate higher, at 61%. These numbers are likely to be worse today; a survey conducted during the COVID-19 pandemic shows a 40% increase in gun sales to Asian Americans.

There are no comprehensive surveys of the role guns play in AAPI domestic violence homicides, but we can apply the general data about the impact of guns on escalating domestic violence situations in these communities. More than half of femicides are committed using guns, and more than half of AAPI femicides are domestic violence related. If these numbers are extrapolated (noting that there are undoubtedly factors for which we cannot control), as many as 25% of femicides in the AAPI community may occur at the intersection between domestic violence and gun violence.

Research into the number and complexity of factors leading to domestic violence in AAPI communities is Iacking⁸⁵ at this point. Based on what we do know, there are certain obstacles to receiving aid that are prevalent throughout AAPI communities. For

example, data reported by the Asian Pacific Institute on Gender-Based Violence indicates that common barriers to direct services include language, immigration status, unavailability of services, transportation, gender, mental health, disabilities, and being in a same-sex relationship. A survivor's identity can make it difficult to seek aid where prevailing cultural attitudes encourage women to act as the peacemaker in relationships and sacrifice personal well-being for the sake of family dynamics. In addition, traditional western mental health strategies may be regarded as incompatible with social expectations placed on Asian-Americans by family and friends.

Hispanic/Latino(a)/Latinx/Latiné Americans

One in three <u>Latinas</u>⁸⁶ has experienced domestic violence in their lifetimes. Latina women experience the highest rate of domestic violence-related femicides of any ethnic or racial grouping. Of Latina homicide victims, <u>61%</u>⁸⁷ are killed by intimate partners — and <u>50%</u>⁸⁸ of these killings are committed with guns.

Latina women face barriers to reporting and support such as a lack of materials offered in a person's first language and social isolation which are exacerbated by increased rates of economic instability and poverty, making it more difficult to reach out to

LATINA WOMEN EXPERIENCE THE HIGHEST RATE OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE-RELATED FEMICIDES OF ANY ETHNIC OR RACIAL GROUPING.

service providers. Perhaps most heinous are the legal barriers that many Latina women face. Fear of deportation among undocumented immigrant women — and fear of racism and anti-immigrant sentiment, regardless of documentation status — combined with sexism and misogyny from law enforcement officers **creates**⁸⁹ an impenetrable barrier to services and support for many Latina survivors of domestic violence.

Latino men face similarly <u>aggravating economic and</u> <u>societal factors</u>⁹⁰ as Black men. Unemployment and financial instability paired with constructions of masculinity that rely on provision as a proxy for manliness combine to create a particularly potent risk of increased domestic violence.

INDIGENOUS COMMUNITIES, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, AND FIREARMS

There are currently **574**⁹¹ federally-recognized Indigenous tribes and groups in the U.S. Guns were introduced to Indigenous communities by European colonizers around the 1600s.92 These guns were used against Indigeous people with great frequency, and Indigenous communities continue to be disproportionately impacted by gun violence. However, access to firearms is crucial in many of these communities, where guns are used for subsistence hunting93 and relied upon to provide nutrition, food security, and economic stability. This necessity complicates the enforcement of firearm regulations across tribes, as does the nature of tribal governments and the structure of the Alaskan Native Corporations — which, as sovereign entities, regulate the "right to bear arms" on tribal land on an individual and independent basis. This can result in a lack of consistent gun regulation across tribes or a lack of regulation altogether.

The prevalence of gun-related domestic violence highlights the need for comprehensive tribal gun violence laws, especially as gaps in federal legislation place Indigenous women at **heightened** <u>risk</u>⁹⁴ of firearm death. As the National Indigenous Women's Resource Center (NIWRC) explains:95 "Protecting citizens' rights to own guns and protecting victims of domestic and sexual violence are two separate issues, and they are not incompatible." The figures across Indigenous groups are staggering:96 On average, 55% of Indigenous women experience some form of domestic violence in their lives, making them 1.6 times more likely to experience domestic violence than their white counterparts. The murder rate for Indigenous women is **ten times**⁹⁷ the national average. Of homicides involving American Indians and Alaska Natives, 55.4% were at the hands of an intimate partner. In one study, 1 in 699 Indigenous women reported that a partner had pulled or used a knife or gun on them. Identifying and disarming domestic violence perpetrators is critical to the survival of many Indigenous women.

While no comprehensive statistical analysis has been conducted regarding these disproportionate rates, a major theory rests on the abuse and subjugation European and American colonial powers have inflicted on Indigenous communities. This historical harm is **defined**¹⁰⁰ as the "massive, cumulative, and intergenerational trauma experienced by indigenous Americans, including loss of land; mass death through disease, famine, forced removal, and war; assimilative boarding school attendance; the banning of religious practices; forced sterilization; and intentional flooding and dumping of toxic materials onto indigenous lands." The intergenerational nature of the cultural violence perpetrated against Indigenous

"THE ISSUE OF LACK OF ENTRY OF TRIBAL PROTECTION ORDERS IN STATE AND FEDERAL DATABASES IS A NATIONAL CRISIS."

Judge Richard Blake, National American Indian Court Judges Association

communities may explain in part the high levels of domestic violence experienced¹⁰¹ by these groups. The aggressive implementation of patriarchal European and American norms on Indigenous tribes has also contributed to the erosion of the equitable societal positioning of women in many traditionally matrilineal Indigenous communities, further increasing Indigenous women's vulnerability to domestic violence and IPV.

Further increasing the risk of domestic violencerelated death, Native women also face specific and **continuous challenges**¹⁰² in the removal of weapons from abusers, even when these abusers are prohibited by U.S. law from owning or having a gun. This is due in part to tribes' unreliable access to the federal databases that store information about prohibited individuals, which has implications in both tribal and non-tribal settings. While the U.S. Department of Justice launched the Tribal Access Program (TAP) to respond to this flaw, not all tribes have access to the necessary databases through TAP. Further, not all orders or convictions are made available by tribal governments using TAP or other means. Indeed, in 2015, Judge Richard Blake, President of the Board of Directors of the National American Indian Court Judges Association, called the lack of entry of tribal protection orders in state and federal databases a "national crisis." 104

The unique complexities of enforcing the law on tribal lands do not end there. Indigenous women who are victimized on tribal land face a "jurisdictional maze" 105 — the location of the crime, the type of crime, the victim's identity, and the perpetrator's identity all affect 106 whether tribal, local, state, or federal law enforcement assumes jurisdiction. The victims who are able to navigate this maze are often let down by federal prosecutors. As Amnesty International has **found,**¹⁰⁷ federal prosecutors frequently decline to pursue cases of sexual violence committed against Indigenous women. In addition, the Violence Against Women Act (VAWA) currently fails to fully recognize the sovereign authority of tribes to convict nonmembers within tribal justice systems, and tribal court convictions only qualify under VAWA if they meet federal statutory requirements. These procedural hurdles result in a lack of accountability for perpetrators of domestic violence, and facilitate their access to guns — further imperiling the lives of Indigenous victims and survivors.

55%

55% of Indigenous women experience some form of domestic violence in their lives.

IMMIGRANT COMMUNITIES, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, AND FIREARMS

Domestic violence against immigrant women has reached what some <u>researchers call</u>¹⁰⁸ "epidemic proportions." One survey <u>found</u>¹⁰⁹ that the lifetime prevalence for domestic violence is twice as high for Latina immigrants than for the general U.S. population. Additionally, immigrant women from Asia, Central America, and the Caribbean all experience <u>higher levels</u>¹¹⁰ of domestic violence than their U.S.-born ethno-cultural identity counterparts.

Homicide reviews and analyses have consistently documented an <u>overrepresentation</u>¹¹¹ of immigrant and refugee women among IPV-related homicide victims, and one <u>study</u>¹¹² found that 41.4% of female immigrant IPH victims between 2003 and 2013 were killed with firearms. These higher IPV-related homicide rates may <u>indicate</u>¹¹³ inadequate response by institutions such as law enforcement and the courts. However, there is virtually no population-based dataavailable for most immigrant and refugee groups, all of whom have essential differences, so the research on these rates is far from conclusive.

Although immigrant communities in the U.S. exhibit vast ethnic, racial, and cultural diversity, they almost invariably share characteristics that result in vulnerability to domestic violence. The act of immigrating itself can increase stress and other risk factors; indeed, some immigrant women report an increase in the likelihood and severity of domestic violence after emigration¹¹⁴ from a victim's country of origin, which may be particularly true¹¹⁵ in countries like the U.S. where pressure to assimilate is high. Many immigrants and refugees are especially vulnerable¹¹⁶ to IPV's exercise of

power and control due to factors such as isolation, dependency on spouses for legal status, and **socioeconomic marginalization**¹¹⁷. Additionally, language barriers, unfamiliarity with the legal system, and difficulties associated with assimilating into a new cultural context all contribute to the prevalence of IPV.

Concerningly, the United States' increased interior immigration enforcement has played a role in the ability and/or desire of immigrant victims to seek aid. While VAWA allows self petitions designed to give survivors of domestic violence a path to citizenship not dependent on the sponsorship of an abusive person, such petitions have <u>decreased</u>¹¹⁸ nationwide by 8.3% — while increasing by 5.7% in areas where sanctuary policies limit contact with immigration enforcement officers. Additionally, immigrants fleeing oppressive regimes often have <u>little faith</u>¹¹⁹ in authorities' ability or desire to help them — a mistrust which is exacerbated when emigrating from places where domestic violence is highly stigmatized.

LGBTQ+ COMMUNITY, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, AND FIREARMS

Despite many depictions of domestic violence as a function of heteronormative gender dynamics, DV is experienced at alarming rates in LGBTQ+ relationships. Due to numerous factors, <code>including120</code> that sexual orientation and gender identity are not recorded on death certificates, nor traditionally by governmental systems that track injury and crime, there are wide gaps that need to be filled to advance knowledge about LGBTQ+ individuals' experiences with gun-related domestic violence. There are also gaps in domestic violence literature concerning the experiences of non-binary, transgender, and gender

72%

72% of transgender homicide victims in the U.S. lose their lives to gun violence.

non-conforming individuals, in part because data is often flawed due to the **misgendering**¹²¹ of victims by the authorities.

One such wide gap <u>identified</u>¹²² by researchers is population-level information about the extent to which guns are used against LGBTQ+ people during IPV. However, even with the need for more research, the prevalence of domestic violence against — and gun homicides of — LGBTQ+ people suggest that firearms play a role in domestic violence-related killings in these communities. Domestic violence occurs in LGBTQ+ relationships at <u>similar or higher rates</u>¹²³ than in the general population. <u>Lesbian, gay and bisexual women</u>¹²⁴ and men experience forms of intimate partner violence at higher rates than their heterosexual counterparts. This is also <u>true</u> for transgender, non-binary, and gender non-conforming individuals' experience of domestic

violence as <u>compared</u>¹²⁵ to the general population and cisgender individuals. Further, among transgender individuals who were out to family members, <u>one in ten</u>¹²⁶ reported violence from a family member.

From 2017 to 2020, 72% of transgender American homicide victims lost their lives due to gun violence. 127 These numbers are on the rise, 128 and the risks of domestic violence-related homicide victimization are especially acute for LGBTQ+ individuals who also identify with other marginalized communities. In 2015, 77% of LGBTQ+ homicide victims were people of color. Black transgender women — who live at the intersection of racism, sexism, homophobia, biphobia, transphobia, and unchecked access to guns — face particular risks 130 of such victimization, suffering violent killings at five times¹³¹ the rate of the general population. Although it is estimated¹³² that Black people make up just 16% of the trans adult population, Black women made up 91% 133 of transgender or gender non-conforming individuals killed with a gun or other means in 2019.

Unfortunately, many transgender and gender nonconforming individuals do not feel comfortable going to law enforcement regarding domestic violence. According to one <u>survey</u>, 134 57% of respondents would not feel comfortable asking police for help

DESPITE DEPICTIONS OF DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AS A FUNCTION OF HETERONORMATIVE GENDER DYNAMICS, IT IS EXPERIENCED AT ALARMING RATES IN LGBTQ+ RELATIONSHIPS

if they needed it, and 58% indicated that they had been mistreated by the police within the previous year, including through verbal harassment, repeated misgendering, and physical and sexual assault.

CHILDREN, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, AND FIREARMS

Children are frequently victims of domestic violence, whether they are abused by someone in their household or witnesses of abuse between family or other household members. In 2019 alone, child protective service agencies received **4.4** million 135 reports of maltreatment for 7.9 million children. Over 700,000 of these reports were substantiated, and almost 2,000 of these children died — with most of the deaths being perpetrated by a caretaker.

When a victim of domestic violence has a child, the child is often used by the perpetrator to further assert control. One **common tactic**¹³⁶ involves using a gun to threaten the victim's children with harm or death if the victim does not comply. In **34%**¹³⁷ of cases where women were killed by their male (former) partners, the abusive partner had threatened to kill the family, and in 19% of cases, he specifically threatened to harm the children.

4.4M

In 2019 child protect services received 4.4 million reports of maltreatment, over 700,000 of which were substantiated.

Children are all too often killed in the context of domestic violence, and these homicides are frequently committed with guns. Nearly 31%¹³⁸ of gun homicides of children under the age of 13 are related to domestic violence. One study¹³⁹ identified 144 child victims of family murdersuicides in a six-year period; 74% of these incidents were preceded by domestic violence. Ninety-one percent of the slain children were killed with a gun, 140 and for 90% of the children who were present for the incident, a gun was used.

Tragically, a Boston Medical Center study¹⁴¹ found that, by age 6, 1 in 10 children had witnessed a shooting or stabbing, with disproportionate¹⁴² rates among races. The consequences of witnessing family gun violence are severe and long-lasting. When a young person is shot at, shot, or a witness to gun-related domestic violence, it can result¹⁴³ in long-lasting trauma, and it doubles¹⁴⁴ the likelihood of that child later perpetrating acts of violence. The trauma¹⁴⁵ of parental interpersonal homicide (IPH) manifests in children as severe physical, psychological, and emotional issues; the impact¹⁴⁶ of this trauma can extend into adulthood, and is linked¹⁴⁷ to youth suicidal behavior.

PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES, DOMESTIC VIOLENCE AND FIREARMS

In the U.S., <u>23.8%</u>¹⁴⁸ of women and 20.1% of men have a <u>physical</u>¹⁴⁹ or <u>mental</u>¹⁵⁰ disability as classified by the <u>Americans with Disabilities Act</u>¹⁵¹ (ADA). People with disabilities have a <u>higher</u>¹⁵² lifetime prevalence of experiencing abuse than people without disabilities and are <u>more likely</u>¹⁵³ to experience many forms of domestic violence. A woman with a disability is <u>40% more likely</u>¹⁵⁴ to be abused than her non-disabled counterpart.

In 2008, <u>27%</u>¹⁵⁵ of violent crimes perpetrated by intimate partners were against women with disabilities, who experience <u>more frequent and more severe</u>¹⁵⁶ acts of violence.

More research is needed on gun-related domestic violence in these communities, but statistics suggest that rates may be high. One study157 found that 15.2% of acute psychiatric inpatients had been hit, forced to have sex, or threatened or attacked with a weapon within the preceding 10 weeks. Another study¹⁵⁸ compared the prevalence of crime victimization in the National Crime Victimization Survey (NCVS) and among persons with severe mental illness (SMI), finding that the percentage of persons with SMI who were threatened with a weapon within a year was 15.5 times higher than the NCVS rate, and that nearly 17% of persons with SMI had been the victim of completed violence, compared to 1.49% overall. Finally, data from a U.S. crime <u>report</u>¹⁵⁹ shows that a higher percentage of people with disabilities were victims of violent crime carried out with a firearm than people without disabilities.

These communities' heightened vulnerability to domestic violence is a product of multiple factors.

High levels of physical <u>dependence</u>¹⁶⁰ on a partner or relative may increase the likelihood of abuse; additionally, disabled populations are more likely to experience poverty, social isolation, and perceived vulnerability by perpetrators. Women with disabilities also face particular barriers 161 to reporting abuse, such as fear of losing child custody and a lack of attention from health care professionals. Police are also less likely¹⁶² to respond to reported violence against victims with disabilities compared to those without. Seeking support can be **difficult** 163 due to a lack of interpretation and transportation, architectural inaccessibility, and societal attitudes. Moreover, many people with disabilities do not know 164 they are being abused.

Domestic violence can also cause or exacerbate physical and mental disabilities for victims and survivors. Domestic violence is the <u>leading cause</u>¹⁶⁵ of injury to women between the ages of 15 and 44 in the U.S., and <u>evidence</u>¹⁶⁶ shows that people who experience domestic violence are more likely to suffer from chronic pain, chronic conditions, PTSD, anxiety, and other deleterious physical and mental health conditions.

DOMESTIC VIOLENCE IS THE LEADING CAUSE OF INJURY TO WOMEN BETWEEN THE AGES OF 15 AND 44 IN THE U.S.

LAWS AND POLICIES

Laws that address the intersection of gun violence and domestic violence are the first line of defense for preventing homicide and abuse for many victims and survivors. Over the last three decades, lawmakers at all levels of government have taken steps toward both protecting victims and survivors and averting further cases of domestic violence with firearms. However, the current state of federal law provides only a bare minimum level of protection, and while many states have worked to create their own means of deterrence, gaps remain.

In general, federal law provides overarching protections through domestic violence-related gun prohibitions. The Lautenberg Amendment, a 1996 addition to the Gun Control Act of 1968 (GCA), prohibits certain individuals convicted of domestic violence misdemeanors from owning or buying firearms or ammunition. Unfortunately, this prohibition extends only to current or former spouses, parents, cohabitants, or those who share a child in common. This categorically fails to reflect patterns of violence as well as changes in dating and marriage trends in the U.S. by not including current and former dating partners. It also fails to cover some types of intimate crimes that are associated with future acts of violence, such as stalking misdemeanors.

The GCA also prohibits persons subject to Domestic Violence Restraining Orders (DVROs) from possessing or purchasing firearms. The prohibition covers those restrained from "harassing, stalking or threatening" or "engaging in other conduct that would place an intimate partner [or child of the intimate partner] in reasonable fear of bodily injury."

KATE RANTA

"My name is Kate Ranta, and in November of 2012, in the midst of a two-year-long contentious divorce and custody battle, my abuser showed up at my door. I knew I was in danger, and told the 911 operator on the other end of my cell phone that I needed help. My father and I tried our best to barricade my door, but suddenly three shots exploded through it. One of them struck me in the hand, which exploded in front of my face. As my ex-husband burst into the apartment firing, a bullet struck my father's side, and another punctured my chest. All the while, my four-yearold son was begging his father to not kill me. I heard him say "Don't do it, daddy. Don't shoot mommy." At that moment, I believed my life might end, as I lay bleeding profusely from my gunshot wounds. All three of us survived, but my father and I have lifelong physical complications from our wounds, and all three of us have been diagnosed with PTSD. My son, William, will live with this reality for his entire life. My abuser received two 60-year sentences for trying to murder us, but women across the country are in danger every day because of the lax gun laws in this country for domestic violence survivors.

A year before he showed up at my door that fateful day, I took out a temporary restraining order against my husband, because I was afraid. While the police seized his six firearms, they warned me that he could go out and buy another one the very next day, despite the restraining

order. To this day, many states don't prevent domestic abusers under temporary restraining orders from purchasing or possessing firearms because of gaps in the law and gaps in the way those under restraining orders are reported, and the Internet and gun shows makes it too easy for abusers to get a gun without a background check. I'm a domestic violence and gun violence prevention activist because no woman, no child, no family, should know the horror mine did. The fault lies squarely on the shoulders of abusive men with access to firearms. I won't stop until they are disarmed."

The Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms and Explosives (ATF) has primary responsibility for enforcing these federal firearm prohibitions. However, because there are not enough ATF agents readily available 167 in every state to find and remove a prohibited abuser's gun in a timely fashion, this responsibility often falls on local officers responding to domestic violence incidents. This means that in states that do not have their own domestic violence-related gun prohibitors or removal procedures — and particularly those states that refuse to enforce federal domestic violence laws 168 — the federal government may be unable to step in and protect victims in time or at all.

While these federal laws provide a groundwork for preventing access to guns for domestic abusers, more must be done to protect victims and survivors. Many states have closed some of the loopholes left in federal law, adding safeguards and saving lives.

Boyfriend Loophole

Half of all intimate partner homicides are committed by <u>dating partners</u>¹⁶⁹ to whom the federal prohibitions often do not apply. Dating partners with histories of perpetrating abuse can buy and own guns through this colloquially-named "boyfriend loophole" when they would be otherwise prohibited if they were a spouse, co-habitant, or co-parent. If this loophole were closed on a national level, it could save the lives of <u>over 80 women</u>¹⁷⁰ every year.

Fortunately, <u>29 states</u>¹⁷¹ have enacted legislation that at least partially closes this loophole. Specifically, 24 states prohibit the purchase of guns by dating partners with a misdemeanor domestic violence conviction, and 28 prohibit dating partners subject to protective orders from buying guns.¹⁷² Unsurprisingly, these state laws are associated with a <u>significant decrease</u>¹⁷³ in intimate partner homicides.

Stalking Loophole

76% of women who are murdered by current and former partners, and 85% who survive a homicide attempt, are <u>stalked</u>¹⁷⁴ first. Indeed, studies have found that intimate partners engaged in stalking behaviors are <u>significantly more likely</u>¹⁷⁵ to kill their intimate partners than those who did not. However, in most states, stalking is a misdemeanor crime — and the federal prohibition does not apply to misdemeanor stalking convictions, allowing these individuals to buy and own guns.

Many states have stepped up to restrict gun access for such convicted individuals who pose a <a href="https://misk.ncb.nlm.nih.gov/high-nisk.ncb.nlm.nih.gov/high-nisk.ncb.nlm.nih.gov/high-nisk.ncb.nlm.nih.gov/high-nisk.ncb.nlm.nih.gov/high-nisk.ncb.nlm.nih.gov/high-nisk.nih.gov/hig

SOME STATES HAVE FURTHER ENACTED RESTRICTIONS FOR INDIVIDUALS CONVICTED OF ANY MISDEMEANOR, WHICH ARE ASSOCIATED WITH A 21% DECREASE IN INTIMATE PARTNER FIREARM HOMICIDE.

felony restriction on gun access to automatically apply; others have enacted laws prohibiting those convicted of misdemeanor stalking from accessing guns. Some states have further enacted restrictions for individuals convicted of any misdemeanor, which are <u>associated</u>¹⁷⁷ with a 21% decrease in intimate partner firearm homicide.

Temporary Restraining Orders

Under federal law, the DVRO prohibitor applies only to certain orders and to victims with certain relationships to the respondent. Temporary protective orders are often sought during emergency situations, such as when a victim is trying to leave a partner and needs help with safety. These can also be referred to as "ex parte" orders, meaning that the court issues the order without the perpetrator's awareness when there is the possibility of immediate and irreparable injury. However, even though one U.S. study states that as many as 70% 178 of reported domestic violence injuries occur once victims leave the harmful relationship, federal law fails to protect these victims because the DVRO prohibition applies only to final protection orders.

Given the dangers DVRO petitioners face <u>leaving</u> <u>their abuser</u>, ¹⁷⁹ some states have saved lives by enacting firearm restrictions that also apply to temporary or ex parte orders. States with such DVRO prohibitors <u>experience</u> ¹⁸⁰ an associated 13% decrease in intimate partner homicides — and a 16% decrease in such homicides perpetrated with guns.

RACHEL DUNCAN

Rachel Renee Duncan was 25 years old when her ex-boyfriend walked into her place of business in Michigan and killed her before turning the gun on himself. Rachel did everything within the power of the law to protect herself from her killer, but it wasn't enough. Rachel had been in an on-again, off-again relationship with her killer for about six years when she obtained a personal protective order (PPO) against him on March 4, 2018, because of his controlling, threatening, and violent behavior. In her petition, Rachel listed four pages of threats and harassment she had received, including alleging that he had fired a bullet at her apartment, installed spy software on her phone, and made threats to harm her or himself. Rachel had also called the police regarding his dangerous behavior. When the police responded, they confiscated his handgun with which he had threatened to kill himself. They also took him to a hospital where a doctor determined he needed inpatient treatment, but he was discharged after signing a form agreeing to participate in a treatment regimen.

Following the PPO, Rachel's ex was legally prohibited from possessing a firearm. On March 26, he tried to complete a purchase

of a handgun at a licensed dealer, but the sale was declined after the background check revealed the PPO. He then drove to a licensed dealer, Total Firearms, that had a shooting range on its premises. Despite his prohibition, her killer walked into Total Firearms and was given a rental handgun and ammunition with no screening or background check. Background checks are not required for renting a gun at a range because it is not considered a "transfer" of the weapon as long as it remains on the premises — which this gun did not. The store failed to supervise him, allowing him to leave the range and walk out the front door with the rental handgun and ammunition. The store's employees did not even realize that the handgun was missing until law enforcement arrived at the range to investigate. But it was too late, as he had already used the gun to kill both Rachel and himself.

Rachel's mother, Gale Duncan, began working with Brady Legal in September 2020, filing a first-of-its-kind wrongful death suit against Total Firearms and several employees for their role in Rachel's death. The lawsuit has since been settled.

Removal Process

While federal agencies have jurisdiction to remove guns found to be owned by prohibited individuals, federal law does not set a process for removing guns owned by domestic violence perpetrators once they become prohibited — putting victims and survivors

at risk when they most need¹⁸¹ protection (<u>26%</u>¹⁸² of spousal murders and <u>60%</u>¹⁸³ of dating violence occurs after the victim has left the relationship).

Some states have enacted removal provisions to ensure that people who become prohibited due to domestic violence relinquish their guns. Seventeen states authorize or require the surrender of guns and/or ammunition after a domestic violence misdemeanor conviction, and 28 have enacted laws facilitating removal for DVRO respondents. These laws vary, but some include explicit instructions regarding to whom guns must be relinquished, a deadline for dispossession, and/or authorization for law enforcement to remove guns if they are not dispossessed accordingly. Relinquishment provisions not only make victims feel safer¹⁸⁴, but truly make them safer — studies show a 16% **decrease**¹⁸⁵ in intimate partner homicides in states with removal laws.

Charleston Loophole

Background checks for gun purchases are run through the National Instant Criminal Background Check System (NICS), which are conducted by the FBI or, in certain states, a state agency with NICS access. These "Brady Background Checks" save lives, preventing over 240,000 186 people with domestic abuse records from buying guns — and this figure is an undercount, as it does not include related felonies. However, one shortcoming known as default proceed, but commonly referred to as the Charleston Loophole, allows gun dealers to legally transfer a gun to a buyer if they do not receive a NICS determination within three business days. Default proceed sales are especially risky, as they are eight times 187 more likely to involve a prohibited purchaser than other background checks; the FBI

itself has acknowledged 188 that the current threeday default period allows for dangerous and deadly mistakes. Indeed, many default proceed cases require time and attention because the potential buyer has a long and complicated history. The issues that cause delays in processing many background checks are particularly prevalent¹⁸⁹ for individuals with histories of domestic violence due to challenges in determining whether a conviction or court order satisfies all required criteria for the federal prohibitions to apply. In fact, domestic violence convictions are the hardest to process for NICS: 30% of denials take longer than three business days 190 to determine, whereas no other category has more than 20% of their denials taking so long. Between 2006 and 2015, over 6,700 guns were transferred 191 to individuals convicted of misdemeanor domestic violence through the Charleston Loophole; in 2018, 22%¹⁹² of cases where a gun was transferred this way to a prohibited purchaser involved someone prohibited due to domestic violence. On the other hand, if the default sale period were increased to a federal minimum of 20 days, over 15,000 193 domestic violence-related prohibited sales that occurred between 2006 and 2015 would have been prevented.

Steps Taken By States In Response

States have passed <u>various laws</u>¹⁹⁴ with the effect of reducing the number of prohibited individuals able to buy guns by default. Some of these laws prohibit dealers from transferring a gun until the background check clears, or an extended period of time elapses; some require individuals to obtain a license before buying a gun; and some have mandatory waiting periods for buyers. By giving more time for agents to determine a potential buyer's eligibility, these laws keep guns out of the hands of potentially dangerous

individuals. This saves lives — for example, state waiting period laws that delay the purchase of guns by a few days can **reduce**¹⁹⁵ gun homicides by 17%.

Private Sales

Another shortcoming in the federal background check scheme is that it applies only to guns being transferred by federally licensed gun dealers. With gun shows and private sales — and sometimes through the internet — 1 in 5 gun sales 196 today is conducted without a background check.

The internet loophole is exploited by prohibited individuals, including those with histories of domestic violence. Nearly 1 in 9 prospective purchasers on the online gun market Armslist are prohibited from owning guns, and 96% 197 of people prohibited from buying a gun who nevertheless purchased one did so through private sales.

Twelve states and the District of Columbia have closed the avenues that prohibited abusers often use by requiring "universal" background checks, including for guns sold privately or at gun shows. Ten states have also enacted laws that partially close this loophole. Research has found that state gun laws requiring background checks for all gun sales result in homicide rates 15% lower than states without such laws.

96%

96% of people prohibited from buying a gun who still purchased one, did so through private sales.

ZINA

Zina suffered for 10 years under the abusive hand of her husband before she found the strength and courage to leave him in October of 2012. Having endured his threats and assaults, Zina was well aware of the danger her husband posed, both to her and to her infant daughter. On October 18, 2012, Zina obtained a restraining order against him which, in addition to keeping him from approaching her for four years, made it a crime for him to possess a firearm.

A mere two days after the court order was handed down, her husband used a website called Armslist to connect with a private seller. Because Armslist facilitates sales between private buyers and private, non-retail sellers, there was no legal requirement for the site or seller to run a background check on him — a check which would have revealed him to be a prohibited purchaser.

On October 21, 2012, he entered Zina's workplace with the handgun he had purchased off Armslist and shot his wife. The shooting that ensued left three — including Zina — dead and several others injured. After police arrived on the scene, Zina's husband hid on the second floor before dying by gun suicide. Zina's eldest daughter, Yasmeen, was present for the shooting; supported and represented by organizations like Brady, she sought justice for her mother with a civil suit against Armslist for its dangerous business practices.

NICS Reporting Inadequacies

The NICS system is only as good as the information available to it, but the FBI cannot compel state and local officers to enforce federal regulatory schemes like the Brady Background Check system. Additionally, even in states with strong reporting rates, it can be difficult to assess whether the federal prohibition applies to different state misdemeanor convictions and protective orders due to their complicated requirements. These factors lead to gaps in the databases used to determine whether or not a gun buyer is prohibited, which can result in dangerous individuals obtaining guns.

The NICS Improvement Act offers states the opportunity to apply for grants to improve their reporting systems and has dramatically helped states that have opted in with reporting. Despite notable successes, the Act has not fixed NICS shortcomings entirely, compelling rather than requiring reporting and applications for grant funding. In 2020, only 22 states 199 applied for and received grant funding through the NICS Act Record Improvement Program, meaning less than half of our country's states are benefiting from this program and improving their reporting systems. There is also gross underreporting by states of federal domestic violence prohibitors. For example, **1 in 7**²⁰⁰ domestic violence shooters in Arizona was prohibited due to their criminal history or an active order of protection — but, as of December 2020, NICS showed only three²⁰¹ active misdemeanor domestic violence conviction records in the state. In 2014, there were over 700,000²⁰² state protection order records missing from the NICS database.

<u>Four states</u>²⁰³ have recently enacted laws to ensure records that fall within the federal domestic violence

prohibitors are submitted to the federal and state databases used for background checks. These laws foster a more thorough background check system and prevent domestic abusers from buying guns because their records were not reported. Additionally, 16 states and D.C. <u>bolster</u>²⁰⁴ federal law by enacting state-level background check requirements, adding safeguards that can help mitigate reporting concerns and save lives. States that perform background checks locally rather than relying solely on NICS have a <u>22% lower homicide</u> <u>rate</u>²⁰⁵ for people over 21.

Domestic Violence Laws and Human Rights

The current federal scheme fails to comprehensively protect victims and survivors from gun-related violence, violating their human rights. ²⁰⁶ Domestic violence ²⁰⁷, IPV²⁰⁸, and gun violence ²⁰⁹ are all human rights issues, and, under international human rights law, governments are obligated to protect "the rights of vulnerable groups, including victims of domestic violence, who are most at risk from misuse of a gun in the home." ²¹⁰ In other words, it is the government's obligation ²¹¹ to pass laws protecting against these forms of violence and to enforce existing laws against reasonably foreseeable abuses by private actors — including by actively preventing gun access for domestic abusers who

will use them to violate a victim's human rights. On several occasions, the United Nations has identified that the U.S. has <u>failed to protect</u>²¹² people from gun violence, including domestic violence, which has left millions of victims in fear for their lives, amounting to a violation of international human rights law.

Built upon treaties, international human rights law derives its force from the assent of powerful states. The U.S., however, has <u>ratified</u>²¹³ very few of the international human rights declarations and treaties that call for protection from — and the prevention of — domestic violence. Conversely, the U.S. has not ratified several²¹⁴ treaties²¹⁵ and declarations²¹⁶ that identify domestic violence as violations of women's rights and freedoms, in particular the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination against Women (CEDAW). The failure to ratify these treaties that would provide protections against domestic violence and gun violence — a fault which dates back to the American Declaration of the Rights and Duties of Man in 1948 — undermines²¹⁷ the ability of the U.S. to prevent and prosecute these forms of violence.²¹⁸ Only through the ratification of these crucial treaties can the U.S. truly show the international community its dedication to protecting its inhabitants from the scourge of gun violence and domestic violence in particular.

ON SEVERAL OCCASIONS, THE UNITED NATIONS HAS IDENTIFIED THAT THE U.S. FAILED TO PROTECT PEOPLE FROM GUN VIOLENCE, INCLUDING DOMESTIC VIOLENCE, WHICH HAS LEFT MILLIONS IN FEAR FOR THEIR LIVES, AMOUNTING TO A VIOLATION OF INTERNATIONAL HUMAN RIGHTS LAW.

FEDERAL REMEDIES

While a number of states step up to close gaps left by federal law, state efforts are far from uniform. Victims' rights and their safety should not be endangered as a consequence of the place where they live.

For these reasons, in addition to more robust state action, these federal solutions must be adopted to create uniform national protections against gunrelated domestic violence:

Closing the Boyfriend Loophole

Federal law must be expanded to prohibit those convicted of misdemeanor violence against their dating partners or subject to DVROs. The U.S. House of Representatives has twice now passed a reauthorization of VAWA with a provision that closes this loophole, but it has not been enacted. Until it is, up to 50%²¹⁹ of victims and survivors will be endangered simply as a result of the nature of their relationship with their abuser.

Closing the Stalking Loophole

Federal law must address the lethal association between stalking and intimate partner homicide carried out with guns. Legislation preventing individuals convicted of misdemeanor stalking offenses from buying or owning guns would limit the capacity of would-be perpetrators of intimate partner homicide to acquire firearms. Once again, the U.S. House of Representatives has passed such legislation through VAWA reauthorization, but the Senate has yet to do the same.

Expanding the DVRO Prohibitor to Include Temporary and Ex Parte Orders

Federal law must provide assistance to victims and survivors when they are most at risk. The DVRO prohibition must also apply to temporary or ex parte orders as well as final orders for the most effective prevention of domestic violence-related gun homicides.

Adopting and Properly Implementing Firearms Removal Laws

Restrictions on the purchase and possession of guns for individuals with records of domestic violence are made much less effective when the individual's dispossession of guns that they already own is not guaranteed. Current bills, such as the Lori
Lori
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
Sciented Survivor
Protection Act
220
<a h

Closing the Charleston Loophole

To prevent domestic abusers from purchasing guns by exploiting the complexities of their criminal histories and legal records, Brady advocates for a federal law that would allow more time to determine a potential buyer's status. The Enhanced Background Checks Act of 2021²²¹ (HR 1446) — introduced before the House in March — proposes such a solution by increasing the default sale period to a minimum of 20 days, a measure which would

reduce the number of guns sold to prohibited purchasers by the thousands.

Implementing Universal Background Checks

Background checks must be required for any gun purchase if we are to protect victims of domestic violence adequately. Without such a requirement, prohibited perpetrators can continue to turn to unregulated gun shows, internet retailers, social media, and local advertisements to buy firearms. Several states have passed laws to eliminate this loophole, but until it is closed on a national level, victims of domestic violence will continue to be vulnerable. A federal universal background check bill would not only be life-saving, but popular — about 90%²²² of Americans support implementing such requirements.

Ensure Comprehensive, Timely Reporting of Domestic Violence Prohibitors to NICS

The NICS system is only as good as the information available to the FBI; without thorough reporting, prohibited purchasers can slip through the cracks and buy guns. It is critical that states apply for NICS Act Record Improvement Program grants to improve reporting procedures nationwide and harmonize the federal and state systems.

Reauthorizing the Violence Against Women Act

VAWA, currently up for reauthorization before the 117th Congress, provides resources to local, state, and tribal governments, as well as nonprofits, to put toward providing comprehensive support for

those affected by domestic violence. The VAWA Reauthorization Act of 2021 includes several critical and groundbreaking provisions: expanded protections for dating partners and stalking victims, as well as a notification requirement for local and state law enforcement when an individual prohibited due to domestic violence or stalking has attempted to buy a gun. It also includes improvements to the authority of tribal law enforcement in situations involving Indigenous people being abused by nontribe members, plus culturally-targeted intervention strategies to mitigate language barriers and immigrant-specific forms of coercive control. Finally, it provides paths for restorative justice for victims who wish to avoid carceral penalties for those who have abused them, as well as a notification requirement for local and state law enforcement.

Ratifying the Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women

Despite its nominal support for the Convention, the U.S. has failed to ratify <u>Committee on the Elimination of Discrimination against Women</u>
(CEDAW)²²³ in the 42 years since it was introduced. Ratified treaties are often unenforceable in the U.S., but ratifying this treaty would at least symbolically obligate the U.S. to follow the convention and ensure the equality of women under the law — including by securing a woman's right to be free from violence and requiring law enforcement to treat victims and survivors with respect and understanding. While not all victims of domestic violence are women, ratifying CEDAW would ensure critical protections for one of the nation's most vulnerable groups.

CONCLUSION

Domestic violence is a tragic reality for far too many that is exponentially more lethal in the U.S. than in other industrialized countries because of unfettered access to firearms. The absence of federal laws that are proven to protect against domestic violence-related homicides leaves millions of victims and survivors in extreme danger. Marginalized and vulnerable communities

are disproportionately impacted and threatened because of systemic issues increasing their vulnerability to domestic violence. If implemented, the policies outlined in this report would have a tangible impact in the lives of those at risk. There is no time to waste; our leaders must prioritize the safety of those exposed to domestic violence and enact these policies today.

ENDNOTES

- 1. Websdale, N., Ferraro, K., & Barger, S. (2019). The Domestic Violence Fatality Review Clearinghouse: Introduction to a new national data system with a focus on firearms. *Injury Epidemiology*. Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/31245255/.
- 2. Carlisle, M., & Chan, M. (2019, October 17). Here's why domestic violence kills so many women and children in the U.S. Time. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://time.com/5702435/domestic-violence-gun-violence/.
- 3. American Civil Liberties Union. (2014, October 27). *Jessica Gonzales v. U.S.A.* American Civil Liberties Union. https://www.aclu.org/cases/jessica-gonzales-v-usa?redirect=human-rights-womens-rights%2Fjessica-gonzales-v-usa.
- 4. Black, M.C., Basile, K.C., Breiding, M.J., Smith, S.G., Walters, M.L., Merrick, M.T., Chen, J., & Stevens, M.R. (2011). *The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey (NISVS): 2010 Summary Report.* Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- 5. Female homicide victimization by males. Violence Policy Center. (2020, September). https://vpc.org/revealing-the-impacts-of-gun-violence/female-homicide-victimization-by-males/.
- 6. Black, Basile, Breiding, Smith, Walters, Merrick, Chen, & Stevens, 2011.

7. *Id.*

- 8. Chen, M. (2017, September 20). *The economic costs of Domestic Violence*. The Nation. Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://www.thenation.com/article/archive/the-economic-costs-of-domestic-violence/.
- 9. Childhood violent trauma center (CVTC). *Impact of Domestic Violence on Children and Youth Child Welfare Information Gateway.* (n.d.). Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://www.childwelfare.gov/topics/systemwide/domviolence/impact/children-youth/.
- 10. Spencer, C. M., & Stith, S. M. (2020). Risk Factors for Male Perpetration and Female Victimization of Intimate Partner Homicide: A Meta-Analysis. *Trauma, violence & abuse,* 21(3), 527–540. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838018781101

11. Kivisto, A. J., & Porter, M. (2020). Firearm Use Increases Risk of Multiple Victims in Domestic Homicides. *The journal of the American Academy of Psychiatry and the Law*, 48(1), 26–34. https://doi.org/10.29158/JAAPL.003888-20

12. Id.

- 13. When men murder women. Violence Policy Center. (2016, September).Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.vpc.org/studies/wmmw2016.pdf.
- 14. Office of Justice Programs; Bureau of Justice Statistics, Cooper, A., & Smith, E. L., *Homicide Trends in the U.S., 1980-2008.* (2011). Bureau of Justice Statistics. https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/htus8008.pdf.

15. Id.

- 16. When men murder women, 2016.
- 17. Bailey, J. E., Kellerman, A., & Somes, G. (1997). Risk factors for violent death of women in the home. *Archives of Internal Medicine*, 157(7), 777. https://doi.org/10.1001/archinte.1997.00440280101009
- 18. Campbell, J., Webster, D., Kozial-McLain, J., Block, C., Campbell, D., Curry, M., Garry, F., McFarlane, J., Sachs, C., Sharps, P., Ulrich, Y., & Wilt, S. (2003, November). A team of researchers studied the Danger Assessment and found that despite certain limitations, the tool can with some reliability identify women who may be at risk of being killed by an intimate partner. *National Institute of Justice Journal*. Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/jr000250e.pdf.
- 19. Adhia, A., Lyons, V., Moe, C., Rowhani-Rahbar, A., & Rivara, F. (2021, June). Nonfatal use of firearms in intimate partner violence: Results of a national survey. *Preventive medicine*. Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/33667471/.
- 20. GAO, Gun Control: Analyzing Available Data Could Help Improve Background Checks Involving Domestic Violence Records (2016). Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-16-483.pdf.
- 21. Gu, J. (2020, June 30). *Deadliest Mass Shootings Are Often Preceded by Violence at Home*. Bloomberg.com. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.bloomberg.

com/graphics/2020-mass-shootings-domestic-violence-connection/

22. Id.

23. Id.

- 24. Francis, E., & Shapiro, E. (2019, October 9). *Man killed wife, 3 kids in quadruple murder-suicide*. Good Morning America. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.goodmorningamerica.com/news/story/relative-picking-children-school-finds-family-dead-police-66117236.
- 25. Voorhees, C. (2019, October 14). After Abington father's murder-suicide, experts examine why. Abington Mariner. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://abington.wickedlocal.com/news/20191013/after-abington-fathers-murder-suicide-experts-examine-why.
- 26. Liem, M., Levin, J., Holland, C., & Dry, Fox, J. A. (2013). The nature and prevalence of familicide in the United States, 2000–2009. *Journal of Family Violence*, 28(4), 351–358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-013-9504-2

27. Id.

28. Sorenson, S. (2018, November 12). A woman terrorized with a gun is a woman harmed by one. The Trace. Retrieved October 8, 2021, from https://www.thetrace.org/2018/11/coercive-control-domestic-violence-guns-public-health/

29. Id.

30. Id.

- 31. Stanley, M. (2020, May 9). Why the increase in domestic violence during covid-19? Psychology Today. https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/making-sense-chaos/202005/why-the-increase-in-domestic-violence-during-covid-19.
- 32. FBI. (2021, July 31). *NICs firearm checks: Top 10 highest days/weeks*. FBI. https://www.fbi.gov/file-repository/nics_firearm_checks_top_10_highest_days_weeks.pdf/view.
- 33. Folley, A. (2020, August 4). *Gun sales surge during pandemic, with July seeing record background checks.* The Hill. https://thehill.com/policy/finance/510369-gun-sales-surge-during-pandemic-with-july-seeing-record-background-checks?rl=1.

- 34. Smith, A. (2020, October 5). *FBI background checks for gun sales have hit an annual record already, fueled by covid-19.* Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/aaronsmith/2020/10/05/fbi-background-checks-for-gunsales-have-hit-an-annual-record-already-fueled-by-covid-19/?sh=550b3cfa5360.
- 35. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. (2020, October 9). *Risk and protective factors*. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. https://www.cdc.gov/violenceprevention/intimatepartnerviolence/riskprotectivefactors.html.
- 36. Stanley, M. (2020, May 9). Why the increase in domestic violence during covid-19? Psychology Today. https://www.psychologytoday.com/us/blog/making-sense-chaos/202005/why-the-increase-in-domestic-violence-during-covid-19.
- 37. Evans, M. L., Lindauer, M., & Farrell, M. E. (2020). A pandemic within a pandemic intimate partner violence during covid-19. *New England Journal of Medicine*, 383(24), 2302–2304. https://doi.org/10.1056/neimp2024046

38. Id.

39. Id.

- 40. Toesland, F. (2020, April 17). *Coronavirus restrictions highlight LGBTQ domestic abuse crisis.* NBCNews. com. https://www.nbcnews.com/feature/nbc-out/coronavirus-restrictions-highlight-lgbtq-domestic-abuse-crisis-n1186376.
- 41. Whittington, C., Hadfield, K., & Calderón, C. (2020). *The lives and livelihoods of many in the LGBTQ community are at risk amidst COVID-19 crisis*. HRC. Retrieved October 19, 2021, from https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/COVID19-IssueBrief-032020-FINAL.pdf.
- 42. Toesland, 2020.
- 43. Przybyla, H. (2021, May 4). *Gun violence during coronavirus pandemic group's data shows.* NBCNews.com. https://www.nbcnews.com/politics/meet-the-press/blog/meet-press-blog-latest-news-analysis-data-driving-political-discussion-n988541/ncrd1223551#blogHeader.
- 44. Gosangi, B., Park, H., Thomas, R., Gujrathi, R., Bay, C. P., Raja, A. S., Seltzer, S. E., Balcom, M. C., McDonald, M. L., Orgill, D. P., Harris, M. B., Boland, G. W., Rexrode, K., & Khurana, B. (2021). Exacerbation of physical intimate

- partner violence during covid-19 pandemic. *Radiology*, 298(1). https://doi.org/10.1148/radiol.2020202866
- 45. Evans & Farrell, 2020.
- 46. Pefley, A. (2020, May 22). Experts see rise in child abuse cases tied to covid-19. WPEC. https://cbs12.com/news/local/experts-see-rise-in-child-abuse-cases-tied-to-covid-19.
- 47. Givens, A. (2020, April 1). Surging gun sales and shelter in place orders make a dangerous mix for domestic violence. The Trace. https://www.thetrace.org/2020/04/domestic-violence-gun-sales-coronavirus/.
- 48. Wolf, R. V. (2020, April 1). *In practice: Courts respond as covid-19 fuels rise in domestic violence*. Center for Court Innovation. Retrieved October 19, 2021, from https://www.courtinnovation.org/publications/courts-covid-dv.
- 49. Search Results (Incidents). Gun Violence Archive. (n.d.). Retrieved October 19, 2021, from https://www.gunviolencearchive.org/query/87b908e9-1e98-4d5d-aa40-a01bcc77b277.
- 50. Glaun, D. (2021, June 2). A handful of states fueled a national increase in domestic violence shooting deaths as covid-19 spread. PBS. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.pbs.org/wgbh/frontline/article/national-increase-domestic-violence-shooting-deaths-during-covid-19/.
- 51. Smith, S.G., Zhang, X., Basile, K.C., Merrick, M.T., Wang, J., Kresnow, M., & Chen, J. (2018). *The National Intimate Partner and Sexual Violence Survey 2015 Data Brief: Updated Release.* Atlanta, GA: National Center for Injury Prevention and Control, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention.
- 52. Female homicide victimization by males. Violence Policy Center. (2020, October 14). https://vpc.org/revealing-the-impacts-of-gun-violence/female-homicide-victimization-by-males/.
- 53. Cooper, A., & Smith, E. L., 2011.
- 54. Campbell, Webster, Kozial-McLain, Block, Campbell, Curry, Garry, McFarlane, Sachs, Sharps, Ulrich, & Wilt, 2003.
- 55. Stolberg, S. G. (2019, April 1). Why the N.R.A. opposes new domestic abuse legislation. The New York Times. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.nytimes.com/2019/04/01/us/politics/nra-domestic-violence-congress.html.

- 56. Blair, M. E., & Hyatt, E. M. (1995). The Marketing of Guns to Women: Factors Influencing Gun-Related Attitudes and Gun Ownership by Women. *Journal of Public Policy & Marketing*, 14(1), 117–127. http://www.jstor.org/stable/30000384
- 57. Campbell, Webster, Kozial-McLain, Block, Campbell, Curry, Garry, McFarlane, Sachs, Sharps, Ulrich, & Wilt, 2003.
- 58. Spencer, C. M., & Stith, S. M. (2020). Risk Factors for Male Perpetration and Female Victimization of Intimate Partner Homicide: A Meta-Analysis. *Trauma, violence & abuse,* 21(3), 527–540. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838018781101
- 59. Cooper, A., & Smith, E. L., 2011.
- 60. Sorenson & Schut, 2018.
- 61. What are the signs of coercive control? Medical News Today. (2020, June). https://www.medicalnewstoday.com/articles/coercive-control
- 62. Mascia, J. (2020, September 23). *No shots fired.* The Trace. https://www.thetrace.org/2018/09/guns-domestic-violence-coercive-control/.
- 63. Sullivan, T. P., & Weiss, N. H. (2017). Is firearm threat in intimate relationships associated with posttraumatic stress disorder symptoms among women? *Violence and Gender,* 4(2), 31–36. https://doi.org/10.1089/vio.2016.0024
- 64. Hoyer, M. (Ed.). (2015). *Domestic shooting homicides*. FBI Supplemental Homicide Data. http://data.ap.org/projects/2016/domestic-gun-homicides/.
- 65. Logan, T. K., & Valente, R. (2015). Who will help me? domestic violence survivors speak out about law enforcement responses. The Hotline. http://www.thehotline.org/wp-content/uploads/sites/3/2015/09/NDVH-2015-Law-Enforcement-Survey-Report.pdf.
- 66. Id.
- 67. Id.
- 68. Id.
- 69. Klugman, J. (2020, July 20). *Do 40% of police families experience domestic violence?* Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://sites.temple.edu/klugman/2020/07/20/do-40-of-police-families-experience-domestic-violence/.
- 70. *Daniel Holtzclaw: The record*. The Marshall Project. (n.d.). Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://www.

themarshallproject.org/records/2268-daniel-holtzclaw.

- 71. Reaves, B. (2016, July). *State and local law enforcement training academies, 2013.* Bureau of Justice Statistics. Retrieved October 19, 2021, from https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/slleta13.pdf.
- 72. Women Of Color Network. (n.d.). Facts Domestic Violence 2006 Oregon DOJ. Scribd. https://pt.scribd.com/document/101556936/Women-of-Color-Network-Facts-Domestic-Violence-2006-Oregon-DOJ.
- 73. Campbell, J. C., Webster, D., Koziol-McLain, J., Block, C., Campbell, D., Curry, M. A., Gary, F., Glass, N., McFarlane, J., Sachs, C., Sharps, P., Ulrich, Y., Wilt, S. A., Manganello, J., Xu, X., Schollenberger, J., Frye, V., & Laughon, K. (2003). Risk factors for femicide in abusive relationships: results from a multisite case control study. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93(7), 1089–1097. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.93.7.1089
- 74. Petrosky E, Blair J.M., Betz C.J., Fowler K.A., Jack S.P., Lyons B.H. Racial and Ethnic Differences in Homicides of Adult Women and the Role of Intimate Partner Violence U.S., 2003–2014. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep* 2017;66:741–746. DOI: http://dx.doi.org/10.15585/mmwr.mm6628a1External
- 75. Catalano, S., Smith, E., Snyder, H., & Rand, M. (2009, October). *Female victims of violence*. US Department of Justice Publications and Materials 7. https://digitalcommons.unl.edu/usjusticematls/7/.
- 76. Smith, E. African American Men and Intimate Partner Violence.(2008) *J Afr Am St* 12, 156–179. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12111-008-9039-4
- 77. Anderberg, D., Rainer, H., Wadsworth, J., & Wilson, T. (2013, July). Unemployment and domestic violence: Theory and evidence. *IZA*. DP No. 7515. https://ftp.iza.org/dp7515.pdf.
- 78. Smith, 2008.
- 79. *Id.*
- 80. Bleich, S. N., Findling, M. G., Casey, L. S., Blendon, R. J., Benson, J. M., SteelFisher, G. K., Sayde, J. M., & Miller, C. (2019). Discrimination in the U.S.: Experiences of Black Americans. *Health Services Research*, 54(S2), 1399–1408. https://doi.org/10.1111/1475-6773.13220

- 81. Id.
- 82. Navarro, Alex. (2018, October 12). Too many latina women are caught in the deadly intersections of gun violence and domestic violence. Ms. https://msmagazine.com/2018/10/12/many-latina-women-caught-deadly-intersections-gun-violence-domestic-violence/
- 83. Chan, M. (2021, July 21). 'I've never seen this level of fear.' why Asian Americans are joining the rush to buy guns. Time. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://time.com/6080988/asians-buying-guns/.
- 84. Nguyen, C. (2020, June 15). 'I'm so tired of being scared': Two Asian American women explain why they bought a gun this year. KQED. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.kqed.org/news/11877731/im-so-tired-of-being-scared-two-asian-american-women-explain-why-they-bought-a-gun-this-year.
- 85. Wang, S. (2014, June). *Intimate Partner Violence Among Asian American and Pacific Islander Women*. Asian American Psychological Association. Retrieved from https://aapaonline.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/06/AA_IPV-final-web.pdf.
- 86. Galvin, G. (2018, November 7). *Danger at Home.* US News & World Report. Retrieved October 19, 2021, from https://www.usnews.com/news/healthiest-communities/articles/2018-11-07/latina-immigrants-vulnerable-to-domestic-violence-trump-effect-advocates-say.
- 87. Navarro, 2018.
- 88. Id.
- 89. O'Neal, E. N., & Beckman, L. O. (2016). Intersections of race, ethnicity, and gender. *Violence Against Women, 23*(5), 643–665. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801216646223
- 90. Mancera, B. M., Dorgo, S., Provencio-Vasquez, E. (2017, July). Risk factors for Hispanic male intimate partner violence perpetration. *American journal of men's health*. Retrieved October 6, 2021, from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5675314/.
- 91. Federal and state recognized tribes. National Conference of State Legislators. (n.d.). https://www.ncsl.org/legislators-staff/legislators/quad-caucus/list-of-federal-and-state-recognized-tribes.aspx.
- 92. Silverman, D. (2016, October 13). How did the introduction

- of Guns Change Native America?: Aeon Essays. Aeon. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://aeon.co/essays/how-did-the-introduction-of-guns-change-native-america.
- 93. Subsistence hunting in Alaska. Alaska Department of Fish and Game. (n.d.). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/index.cfm?adfg=subsistence. hunting.
- 94. Turner, K. (n.d.). *The risk firearms post to indigenous women.* NIWRC. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.niwrc.org/restoration-magazine/june-2021/risk-firearms-post-indigenous-women.
- 95. Id.
- 96. Burnette, C. (2015). Historical oppression and intimate partner violence experienced by indigenous women in the U.S.: Understanding connections. *Social Service Review*, 89(3), 531–563. https://doi.org/10.1086/683336.
- 97. Violence against Native women gaining global attention. Indian Law Resource Center. (n.d.). Retrieved October 12, 2021, from https://indianlaw.org/safewomen/violence-against-native-women-gaining-global-attention
- 98. Petrosky, Blair, Betz, Fowler, Jack, Lyons, 2017.
- 99. Malcoe, L. H., & Duran, B. (2004). *Intimate partner violence and injury in the lives of low income Native American women*. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/nij/199703.pdf.
- 100. Burnette, 2015.
- 101. Id.
- 102. Turner, K. (n.d.). *The risk firearms post to indigenous women.* NIWRC. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.niwrc.org/restoration-magazine/june-2021/risk-firearms-post-indigenous-women.
- 103. ld.
- 104. *Tribal court access to protection order registries could have prevented gun tragedy.* (2015, April 6). California Courts. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.courts.ca.gov/documents/forum-20150416-materials.pdf.
- 105. Castillo, C. (2015). *Tribal Courts, Non-Indians, and the right to an impartial jury after the 2013 reauthorization of Vawa.* University of Oklahoma College of Law Digital Commons. Retrieved October 12, 2021, from https://digitalcommons.law.

ou.edu/ailr/vol39/iss1/8/.

- 106. Gilbert, S. L., Wright, E., & Richards, T. (2021, June 18). Federal policy has failed to protect Indigenous women. The Conversation. Retrieved October 12, 2021, from https://theconversation.com/federal-policy-has-failed-to-protect-indigenous-women-159679.
- 107. *Maze of Injustice*. Amnesty International. (2007). Retrieved October 12, 2021, from https://www.amnestyusa.org/pdfs/mazeofinjustice.pdf.
- 108. Raj, A., & Silverman, J. (2002). Violence Against Immigrant Women: The Roles of Culture, Context, and Legal Immigrant Status on Intimate Partner Violence. *Violence Against Women,* 8(3), 367–398. https://doi.org/10.1177/10778010222183107
- 109. Moynihan, B., Gaboury, M. T., & Onken, K. J. (2008). Undocumented and unprotected immigrant women and children in harm's way. *Journal of forensic nursing,* 4(3), 123–129. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1939-3938.2008.00020.x
- 110. Stockman, J. K., Hayashi, H., & Campbell, J. C. (2015). Intimate Partner Violence and its Health Impact on Ethnic Minority Women [corrected]. *Journal of Women's Health (2002)*, 24(1), 62–79. https://doi.org/10.1089/jwh.2014.4879
- 111. The facts on immigrant women and domestic violence. Futures Without Violence. (n.d.). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.futureswithoutviolence.org/userfiles/file/Children_and_Families/Immigrant.pdf.
- 112. Sabri, B., Campbell, J. C., & Messing, J. T. (2021). Intimate Partner Homicides in the United States, 2003-2013: A Comparison of Immigrants and Nonimmigrant Victims. *Journal of interpersonal violence*, 36(9-10), 4735–4757. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260518792249
- 113. Yoshihama, M., Ramakrishnan, A., Hammock, A. C., & Khaliq, M. (2012). Intimate Partner Violence Prevention Program in an Asian Immigrant Community: Integrating Theories, Data, and Community. *Violence Against Women,* 18(7), 763–783. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801212455163
- 114. The facts on immigrant women and domestic violence.

115. ld.

- 116. Id.
- 117. Adams, M., & Campbell, J.C. (2012). Being undocumented & intimate partner violence (ipv): multiple vulnerabilities through the lens of feminist intersectionality. https://tspace.library.utoronto.ca/bitstream/1807/32411/1/11.1_Adams_&_Campbell.pdf
- 118. Adams, & Campbell, 2012.
- 119. Amuedo-Dorantes, Catalina; Arenas-Arroyo, Esther (2019): Police Trust and Domestic Violence: Evidence from Immigration Policies, IZA Discussion Papers, No. 12721, Institute of Labor Economics (IZA), Bonn
- 120. Conron, K., Goldberg, S., Flores, A., Luhur, W., Tashman, W., & Romero, A. (2018, November). *Gun violence and LGBT adults*. Williams Institute. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/wp-content/uploads/Gun-Violence-LGBT-Adults-Nov-2018.pdf.
- 121. *Unerased: Mic's database of trans lives lost to homicide in the US. Mic.* (2016, December 7). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://unerased.mic.com/.
- 122. Conron, Goldberg, Flores, Luhur, Tashman, & Romero, 2018.
- 123. Human Rights Campaign. (2017, October). *Common myths about LGBTQ domestic violence*. HRC. https://www.hrc.org/news/common-myths-about-lgbtq-domestic-violence.
- 124. Black, Basile, Breiding, Smith, Walters, Merrick, Chen, & Stevens, 2011.
- 125. Taylor N.T. Brown and Jody L. Herman, "Intimate Partner Violence and Sexual Abuse Among LGBT People: A Review of Existing Research," The Williams Institute (2015), p. 3, available at https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla. edu/wp-content/uploads/Intimate-Partner-Violence-andSexual-Abuse-among-LGBT-People.pdf
- 126. 2015 U.S. Transgender Survey Executive Summary. 2015 U.S. Trans Survey. (2016, December). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.ustranssurvey.org/reports.
- 127. Everytown Research EveryStat. EveryStat.org. (n.d.). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://everystat.org/#transgender.
- 128. Violence against the transgender community in 2020.

- HRC. (2020). https://www.hrc.org/resources/violence-against-the-trans-and-gender-non-conforming-community-in-2020.
- 129. Community Action Toolkit for addressing intimate partner violence against people of color. National Coalition of Anti-Violence Programs. (2014). https://avp.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/04/ncavp_poc_ipvtoolkit.pdf.
- 130. Violence against the transgender community in 2020. HRC. (2020). https://www.hrc.org/resources/violence-against-the-trans-and-gender-non-conforming-community-in-2020.
- 131. LGBTQ Intimate Partner Violence and COVID-19. Human Rights Campaign. (2020). https://assets2.hrc.org/files/assets/resources/Intimate-Partner-Violence-Report-2020.pdf.
- 132. Flores, A., Brown, T., & Herman, J. (2020, April 9). *Race and ethnicity of adults who identify as transgender in the United States*. Williams Institute. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://williamsinstitute.law.ucla.edu/publications/race-ethnicity-trans-adults-us/.
- 133. A National epidemic: Fatal anti-transgender violence in America. HRC. (2019). https://www.hrc.org/resources/anational-epidemic-fatal-anti-trans-violence-in-the-united-states-in-2019.
- 134. 2015 U.S. Transgender Survey Executive Summary. 2015 U.S. Trans Survey. (2016, December). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.ustranssurvey.org/reports.
- 135. Child Welfare Information Gateway & Children's Bureau. (2019). *Child maltreatment 2019: Summary of key findings.* Child Welfare Information Gateway. https://www.childwelfare.gov/pubs/factsheets/canstats/.
- 136. Zeoli, A. (2018, February). *Children, domestic violence, and guns.* The National Resource Center on Domestic Violence and Firearms. Retrieved October 5, 2021, from https://www.preventdvgunviolence.org/assets/childrendomestic-violence-and-guns-022118.pdf.
- 137. Campbell, Webster, Koziol-McLain, Block, Campbell, Curry, Gary, Glass, McFarlane, Sachs, Sharps, Ulrich, Wilt, Manganello, Xu, Schollenberger, Frye, & Laughon, 2003
- 138. Fowler, K., Dahlberg, L., Haileyesus, T., Gutierrez, C., and Bacon, S. (2017). Childhood Firearm Injuries in The United States. *Pediatrics*, 140(1), https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2016-3486

- 139. Logan, J. E., Walsh, S., Patel, N., & Hall, J. E. (2013). Homicide-followed-by-suicide incidents involving child victims. *American journal of health behavior*, 37(4), 531–542. https://doi.org/10.5993/AJHB.37.4.11
- 140. Sillito, C.L., Salari, S. (2011). Child Outcomes and Risk Factors in U.S. Homicide-Suicide Cases 1999–2004. *J Fam Viol* 26, 285–297 https://doi.org/10.1007/s10896-011-9364-6
- 141. *Facts & myths.* Child Witness to Violence Project. (n.d.). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from http://www.childwitnesstoviolence.org/facts--myths.html.
- 142. Zimmerman, G. M., & Messner, S. F. (2013). Individual, family background, and contextual explanations of racial and ethnic disparities in youths' exposure to violence. *American Journal of Public Health*, 103(3), 435–442. https://doi.org/10.2105/ajph.2012.300931
- 143. Zeoli, 2018.
- 144. Bingenheimer, J. B., Brennan, R. T., & Earls, F. J. (2005). Firearm violence exposure and serious violent behavior. *Science*, *308*(5726), 1323–1326. https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1110096
- 145. Zeoli, 2018.
- 146. Hardesty, J. L., Campbell, J. C., McFarlane, J. M., & Lewandowski, L. A. (2008). How Children and Their Caregivers Adjust After Intimate Partner Femicide. *Journal of Family Issues*, 29(1), 100–124. https://doi.org/10.1177/0192513X07307845
- 147. Ruch, D. A., Heck, K. M., & Sheftall, A. H. (2021). Characteristics and precipitating circumstances of suicide among children aged 5 to 11 years in the United States, 2013-2017. *JAMA Network Open*, 4(7). https://doi.org/10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2021.15683
- 148. Breiding, M. J., & Armour, B. S. (2015). The association between disability and intimate partner violence in the *U.S.*. *Annals of Epidemiology*, 25(6), 455–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.03.017
- 149. *Disabilities recognized under the Ada.* Illinois Legal Aid Online. (n.d.). https://www.illinoislegalaid.org/legal-information/disabilities-recognized-under-ada.
- 150. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. (2019). *NIMH mental illness*. National Institute of Mental

- Health. https://www.nimh.nih.gov/health/statistics/mental-illness.
- 151. U.S. Department of Justice Civil Rights Division Disability Rights Section. (2020, February). *A Guide to Disability Rights Laws.* ADA. https://www.ada.gov/cguide.htm
- 152. Breiding, M. J., & Armour, B. S. (2015). The association between disability and intimate partner violence in the U.S.. *Annals of Epidemiology*, *25*(6), 455–457. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2015.03.017
- 153. Domestic Violence and People with Disabilities. NCADV: National Coalition Against Domestic Violence. (2018, March 13). Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://ncadv.org/blog/posts/domestic-violence-and-people-with-disabilities.
- 154. *Survivors with disabilities facts*. YWCA. (2017, September). Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://www.ywca.org/wp-content/uploads/Survivors-w-Disabilities-Fact-Sheet.pdf.
- 155. Harrell, E., & Rand, M., (2010) *Crime Against People with Disabilities*, 2008. Bureau of Justice Statistics, Retrieved October 7, 2021 https://bjs.ojp.gov/content/pub/pdf/capd08.pdf.
- 156. Survivors with disabilities facts, 2017.
- 157. Silver, E. (2002). Mental disorder and violent victimization: The mediating role of involvement in conflicted social relationships*. *Criminology, 40*(1), 191–212. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1745-9125.2002.tb00954.x
- 158. Teplin, L. A., McClelland, G. M., Abram, K. M., & Weiner, D. A. (2005). Crime victimization in adults with severe mental illness. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 62(8), 911. https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.62.8.911
- 159. Harrell & Rand, 2010.
- 160. Breiding & Armour, 2015.
- 161. Ballan, M. S., Freyer, M. B., Marti, C. N., Perkel, J., Webb, K. A., & Romanelli, M. (2014). Looking beyond prevalence. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 29(17), 3167–3179. https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260514534776
- 162. Harrell & Rand, 2010.
- 163. Elman, A. (2005, January). *Confronting the Sexual Abuse of Women with Disabilities*. VAWnet, a project of the National

Resource Center on Domestic Violence/Pennsylvania Coalition Against Domestic Violence. Retrieved October 7, 2021 from: http://www.vawnet.org

164. Lightfoot, E., & Williams, O. (2009). The intersection of disability, diversity, and domestic violence: Results of national focus groups. *Journal of Aggression, Maltreatment & Trauma,* 18(2), 133–152. https://doi.org/10.1080/10926770802675551

165. Survivors with disabilities facts, 2017.

166. Black, Basile, Breiding, Smith, Walters, Merrick, Chen, & Stevens, 2011.

167. 1117. Restrictions on the possession of firearms by individuals convicted of a misdemeanor crime of domestic violence. The U.S. Department of Justice Criminal Resource Manual 1101-1199 (2013, July). https://www.justice.gov/archives/jm/criminal-resource-manual-1117-restrictions-possession-firearms-individuals-convicted.

168. Some states have declared themselves "Second Amendment sanctuaries," with many of them prohibiting the enforcement of federal firearms laws. Some of these states do not have their own state-level DV prohibitors, putting victims and survivors in particular peril should their state and local governments refuse to enforce the federal DV prohibitors.

169. Sorenson, S. B., & Spear, D. (2018). New data on intimate partner violence and intimate relationships: Implications for gun laws and federal data collection. *Preventive medicine,* 107, 103–108. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ypmed.2018.01.005

170. Holson, L. M. (2019, April) *Murders by Intimate Partners Are on the Rise, Study Finds*. New York Times. https://www.nytimes.com/2019/04/12/us/domestic-violence-victims.html

171. *Domestic Violence & Firearms*. Giffords. (n.d.). https://giffords.org/lawcenter/gun-laws/policy-areas/who-can-have-a-gun/domestic-violence-firearms/.

172. However, some of these state laws could be strengthened further to protect victims of DV against gun violence — for example, a minority of these states only authorize (as opposed to require) such prohibitions, or have temporal limitations on the bans.

173. Zeoli, A. (2018, November). *Domestic violence and firearms: Research on statutory interventions* The Battered Women's Justice Project. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from

https://www.preventdvgunviolence.org/dv-and-firearms-zeoli.pdf.

174. Mcfarlane, J., Campbell, J., Wilt, S., Sachs, C., Ulrich, Y., & Xu, X. (1999). Stalking and intimate partner femicide. *Homicide Studies*, *3*(4), 300–316. https://doi.org/10.1177/1088767999003004003.

175, Campbell, Webster, Kozial-McLain, Block, Campbell, Curry, Garry, McFarlane, Sachs, Sharps, Ulrich, & Wilt, 2003.

176. Mcfarlane, Campbell, Wilt, Sachs, Ulrich, & Xu, 1999

177. Zeoli, 2018, Domestic violence and firearms: Research on statutory interventions.

178. Rakovec-Felser Z. (2014). Domestic Violence and Abuse in Intimate Relationship from Public Health Perspective. *Health psychology research*, 2(3), 1821. https://doi.org/10.4081/hpr.2014.1821

179. Mitchell, J. (2017, January 29). *Most dangerous time for battered women? when they leave.* The Clarion-Ledger. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.clarionledger.com/story/news/2017/01/28/most-dangerous-time-for-battered-women-is-when-they-leave-jerry-mitchell/96955552/.

180. Zeoli, A. M., Frattaroli, S., Roskam, K., & Herrera, A. K. (2017). Removing firearms from those prohibited from possession by domestic violence restraining orders: A survey and analysis of State laws. *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 20*(1), 114–125. https://doi.org/10.1177/1524838017692384

181. Rakovec-Felser, 2014.

182. Pelley, L. (2016, December 8). Leaving relationship is 'most dangerous time' for domestic violence victims, experts say. CBC news. CBC news. Retrieved October 5, 2021, from https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/domestic-violence-victims-1.3885381.

183. Id.

184. Vittes, K. A., Webster, D. W., Frattaroli, S., Claire, B. E., & Wintemute, G. J. (2013). Removing guns from batterers. *Violence Against Women, 19*(5), 602–616. https://doi.org/10.1177/1077801213490561

185. Zeoli, A., McCourt, A., Buggs, S., Frattaroli, S., Lilley,

- D., & Webster, D. W. (2018). Analysis of the Strength of Legal Firearms Restrictions for Perpetrators of Domestic Violence and Their Associations With Intimate Partner Homicide. *American journal of epidemiology*, 187(11), 2365–2371. https://doi.org/10.1093/aje/kwy174
- 186, FBI. (2021, September 30). *Federal denials*. FBI. Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://www.fbi.gov/file-repository/federal_denials.pdf/view.
- 187. A Blueprint for Federal Action on Illegal Guns. Mayors Against Illegal Guns. (2009, August). Retrieved October 12, 2021, from http://libcloud.s3.amazonaws.com/9/44/0/1346/blueprint_federal_action.pdf.
- 188. Statement by FBI Director James Comey Regarding Dylann Roof Gun Purchase. (2015, July 10). *FBI*. Retrieved October 12, 2021, from https://www.fbi.gov/news/pressrel/press-releases/statement-by-fbi-director-james-comey-regarding-dylann-roof-gun-purchase.
- 189. *Domestic abuse and firearms*. WatchBlog: Official Blog of the U.S. Government Accountability Office. (2017, March 24). Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://blog.gao.gov/2017/03/14/domestic-abuse-and-firearms/.
- 190. GAO, Gun Control: Analyzing Available Data Could Help Improve Background Checks Involving Domestic Violence Records (2016). Retrieved from https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-16-483.pdf.

191. Id.

- 192. FBI. (2019). *2018 NICS Operations Report*. FBI. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.fbi.gov/file-repository/2018-nics-operations-report.pdf/view.
- 193. GAO, 2016.
- 194. Background Check Procedures. Giffords. (n.d.) https://giffords.org/lawcenter/gun-laws/policy-areas/background-checks/background-check-procedures/#footnote_24_5615
- 195. Luca, M., Malhotra, D., & Poliquin, C. (2017). Handgun waiting periods reduce gun deaths. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 114(46), 12162–12165. https://doi.org/10.1073/pnas.1619896114
- 196. St. Martin, G. (2020, April 23). New Study finds 1 in 5 US gun owners obtained firearm without background check. News @ Northeastern. Retrieved October 18, 2021, from https://

- news.northeastern.edu/2017/01/05/new-study-finds-1-in-5-us-gun-owners-obtained-firearm-without-background-check/.
- 197. Vittes, K. A., Vernick, J. S., & Webster, D. W. (2013). Legal status and source of offenders' firearms in states with the least stringent criteria for gun ownership. *Injury prevention : journal of the International Society for Child and Adolescent Injury Prevention, 19*(1), 26–31. https://doi.org/10.1136/injuryprev-2011-040290
- 198. Siegel, M., Pahn, M., Xuan, Z., Fleegler, E., & Hemenway, D. (2019). The impact of state firearm laws on homicide and suicide deaths in the USA, 1991–2016: A panel study. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, 34(10), 2021–2028. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-019-04922-x
- 199. State Profiles NARIP. Bureau of Justice Statistics. (n.d.). Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://bjs.ojp. gov/programs/nics-improvement-amendments-act/state-profiles#nics-act-record-improvement-program-narip-awards-fy-2009-2020.
- 200. Domestic violence fatality report. Arizona Coalition to End Sexual and Domestic Violence. (n.d.). Retrieved October 12, 2021, from https://www.acesdv.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/ACESDV_FatalityReport-Booklet_final.pdf.
- 201. Active Records in the NICS Indices as of December 31, 2020. FBI Criminal Justice Information Services Division. (n.d.). Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://www.fbi.gov/file-repository/active-records-in-the-nics-indices-by-state. pdf.
- 202. Goggins, B., & Gallegos, A. (2016, April). State Progress in Record Reporting for Firearm-Related Background Checks: Protection Order Submissions. OJP. Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://www.ojp.gov/pdffiles1/bjs/grants/249864.pdf.
- 203. *Domestic Violence & Firearms*. Giffords. (n.d.). https://giffords.org/lawcenter/gun-laws/policy-areas/who-can-have-a-gun/domestic-violence-firearms/.
- 204. *Universal background checks*. Giffords. https://giffords. org/lawcenter/gun-laws/policy-areas/background-checks/universal-background-checks/.
- 205. Sumner, S. A., Layde, P. M., & Guse, C. E. (2008). Firearm death rates and association with level of firearm

- purchase background check. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 35(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. amepre.2008.03.023
- 206. "Human rights" are the inherent freedoms that every person is entitled to simply by existing.
- 207. *Explore the issue*. SVAW domestic violence. (n.d.). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from http://hrlibrary.umn.edu/svaw/domestic/explore/index.htm.
- 208. Slote, K., & Cuthbert, C. (n.d.). *A women's human rights information sheet*. Domestic violence and sexual abuse. Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://mainweb-v.musc.edu/vawprevention/advocacy/humanrgts.shtml.
- 209. *Gun violence*. Amnesty International. (n.d.). Retrieved October 7, 2021, from https://www.amnesty.org/en/what-we-do/arms-control/gun-violence/.
- 210. Frey, B. (2006, July 27). *Prevention of human rights violations committed with small arms and light weapons: final report.* http://hrlibrary.umn.edu/demo/smallarms2003. html.
- 211. *In the line of fire*. Amnesty International. (2018, September). Retrieved October 14, 2021, from https://www.amnestyusa.org/wp-content/uploads/2018/09/Gun-Report-Full_10.pdf.
- 212. *Gun control in USA*. OHCHR. (2016, June 14). Retrieved October 8, 2021, from https://www.ohchr.org/EN/NewsEvents/Pages/GunControlInUSA.aspx.
- 213. The United Nations. (1976, March 23). *International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights*. Office of the High Commissioner of Human Rights. https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/ccpr.aspx.
- 214. The United Nations. (1976, January 3). *International Covenant on Economic, Social and Cultural Rights*. Office of the High Commissioner on Human Rights. https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cescr.aspx.
- 215. The United Nations. (1979 December 18) *Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women.*Office of the High Commissioner of Human Rights. https://www.ohchr.org/en/professionalinterest/pages/cedaw.aspx
- 216. The United Nations. (1993, December 20). *Declaration on the Elimination of Violence Against Women*. Office of the High Commissioner of Human Rights. https://www.ohchr.org/

- EN/ProfessionalInterest/Pages/ViolenceAgainstWomen.aspx.
- 217. Yildiz, E. (2018, September 27). How international human rights law can contribute to the prevention of domestic violence. Scholars Strategy Network. https://scholars.org/brief/how-international-human-rights-law-can-contribute-prevention-domestic-violence.
- 218. Even the treaties that the U.S. has ratified are often unenforceable in America – in order for a treaty to create a private right of action, it must be authorized by Congress. As a result, the U.S. provides little to no human rights protections to its citizens battling domestic violence and gun violence, and victims are largely unable to hold the U.S. accountable for its failures to protect their rights. This is only compounded by the lack of federal legislation closing the existing loopholes that allow intimate abusers to access guns which they use to violate victims' human rights by perpetrating these forms of violence. This lack of protections have led international courts to find the U.S. culpable for gun-related domestic violence crimes. In 1999, Jessica Lenahan's estranged husband kidnapped and killed her three daughters in violation of a DVRO. Jessica had reported the abduction to Colorado state police, but her repeated calls were met with inaction. It was only when he opened fire at a police station and was killed that the bodies of her daughters were found. Jessica sued the police for their inaction, but the U.S. Supreme Court found that Jessica did not have a constitutional right to governmental enforcement of the DVRO. Jessica then took her case to the Inter-American Commission on Human Rights (IACHR) to bring international legal action against the U.S. The IACHR found that the U.S. bore responsibility for human rights violations against both Jessica and her children, as governments are obligated to conduct due diligence against private actors of domestic violence and IPV; here, the U.S. government should have conducted a timely investigation against Jessica's abuser. The U.S. rejected IACHR's ruling, alleging that procedural issues invalidated the case. Nevertheless, in the decade since, the U.S. has implemented some policies that align with IACHR's recommendations.
- 219. Sorenson & Spear, 2018.
- 220. Text S.2169 117th Congress (2021-2022): Lori Jackson-Nicolette Elias Domestic Violence Survivor Protection Act. (2021, June 22). https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/senate-bill/2169/text
- 221. Text H.R.1446 117th Congress (2021-2022):

Enhanced Background Checks Act of 2021. (2021, March 11). https://www.congress.gov/bill/117th-congress/house-bill/1446

222. Majority support stricter gun laws, Quinnipiac University National Poll finds; Stark divides on views of police and voting issues: Quinnipiac University poll. Quinnipiac University. (2021, April 15). Retrieved October 20, 2021, from https://poll.qu.edu/poll-release?releaseid=3809.

223. Convention on the Elimination of All Forms of Discrimination Against Women, 1979.

